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Re: 	 Case No. $2&8%-EL-AGG, In the Matter of the Material Change to Business OperatiWlk 

of Diversegy, LLC: Notice of Change in Ownership 

Dear Commission Secretary, 

Pursuant to  Rule 4901:l-24-10 e t  seq., Ohio Administrative Code, Diversegy, LLC ("Diversegy") 

hereby submits its notice t o  the Public Utilities Commission of Ohio ("Commission" "PUCO") that a 

material change in business operations, specifically a change in ownership, has occurred. 

On December 5, 2013, Diversegy, LLC entered into a purchase agreement with Shuk Holdings, 

LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of IDT Energy, Inc., which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Genie Energy 

Ltd. (NYSE: GNE). 

Rule 4901:l-24-10(B)(1) requires that the Commission be notified within thirty days of any 

"significant change in ownership (being an ownership interest of five per cent or more) of the applicant 

or CRES provider." Attached hereto as Exhibit A, Diversegy submits a graphical depiction of the resulting 

corporate structure subsequent to  the acquisition. 

Rule 4901:l-24-10(B)(8)(9)(10) requires that the Commission be notified within thirty days of 

any "change in the contact person, business address or telephone/fax number for staff using in 

investigating complaints," "any change in the contact person, business address, or telephone/fax 

number for staff use in investigating regulatory or emergency matters," and "any change in the business 

address, or toll-free telephone/fax number for customer service and complaints." Atthched hereto as 

Exhibit B, Diversegy submits the new contact person for investigatory, customer service, and regulatory 

matters, respectively. 

Diversegy, as a wholly owned subsidiary of IDT Energy and Genie Energy, Exhibit C contains the 

parent company's most recent SEC filings (8-K and 10-Q). IDT Energy, Inc. does not have stand-alone 

audits done. Rather, its financials are reviewed and audited as part of the consolidated financial 

statements of its ultimate parent, Genie Energy, Ltd., a publicly traded company (NYSE: GNE). 

Tnphnf 	 Data processed -



Diversegy notes that its internal corporate and management structure will not change, nor will 

Its marketing or customer outreach methods currently employed in the State of Ohio. Diversegy's name 

will not change, its principal office will not change, and there are no other material changes to its 

business operations to disclose. 

On December 3, 2012 the Commission issued Certificate Number 12-605E(1), which Is set to 

expire on November 30, 2014. In accordance with Chapter 4901:1-21 and 4901:1-24 of the Ohio 

Administrative Code, Diversegy will file its renewal application with the Commission In the appropriate 

timeframe. 

This acquisition will support DIversegy's mission and operations in the State of Ohio by 

continuing to utilize the technical and managerial experience of Its managers combined with the 

financial stability of IDT Energy and Genie Energy Ltd. 

Should the Commission Staff require any additional information or documentation, please don't 

hesitate to contact this office directly. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

bgan-P. wlornsj 

1049 Shore Road 
Suite A 
Linwood, NJ 08221 
T: 609.365.7072 
F: 609.297.5747 
E: smorrisey@energvchoicecQn5ultlng.com 
o/b/o Diversegy LLC 

mailto:smorrisey@energvchoicecQn5ultlng.com


EXHIBIT A 

Rule 4901:l-24-10(B)(l) requires that the Commission be notified within thirty days of any "significant 

change In ownership (being an ownership interest of five percenter more) of the applicant or CRES 

provider" Diversegy herein submits a graphical depiction of its resulting corporate structure, and Is a 

wholly owned subsidiary of Shuk Holdings, LLC, IDT Energy and Genie Energy Ltd, (NYSE: GNE). 

There Is no change in the internal management structure ofthe licensee. 



CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

l:.ncTgv 

Genie Energy 
Ltd. 

(NTSE: GNE) 

IDT Energy, Inc. 

IS; 
Shuk Holdings 

LLC (DE) 

Epiq Energy 
LLC Diversegy LLC 

American Shale 
Oil 

(AMSO) 

Genie Oil & Gas 

n 
Genie Mongolia Genie Israel 

Holdings 

Israel Energy 
Initiatives Afek Oil & Gas 

(Golan) 

Stock Price 10.71 
Market Capitatization 
Debt 
EBITDA (TTM)̂  
Full Time Employees 

$220 Million 
$0 
$3.1 million 
>130 

' Market Data as of 12/11/13 
' TTM - Twelve Months ended March 31, 2013 



EXHIBIT B 

Rule 4901:l-24-10(B)(8)(9)(10) requires that the Commission be notified within thirty days of any 

"change In the contact person, business address or telephone/fax number for staff using In Investigating 

complaints," "any change In the contact person, business address, or telephone/fax number for staff use 

In investigating regulatory or emergency matters," and "any change In the business address, or toll-free 

telephone/fax number for customer service and complaints." 

1. Contact Person for Staff Investigating Complaints 

Alex Rodriguez, CEO 
2720 North Stemmons Freeway, Suite 900 
Dallas, TX 75207 
T: 214-637-2400 
F: 214-637-2784 
E: aiex.rodrlguez(5)dlversegy.com 

2. Contact Person for Staff Investigating Regulatory Matters 

AvI Kellson, Regulatory Counsel 
IDT Energy, Inc. 
550 Broad Street 
Newark, Nj 07102 
T: 973-438-3500 
F: 973-438-1878 
E: akeilson@idtenergy.com 

3. Contact Person for Emergency Matters 

Alex Rodriguez, CEO 
2720 North Stemmons Freeway, Suite 900 
Dallas, TX 75207 
T: 214-637-2400 
F: 214-637-2784 
E: alex.rodriguez@diversegv.com 

4. Contact Person and Toil-Free Number for Customer Service 

Sam Khavari, Vice President 
2720 North Stemmons Freeway, Suite 900 
Dallas, TX 75207 
T: 214-637-2400 
F: 214-637-2784 
E: sam.khavari@divefsegv.com 
TF: 855-840-1280 

mailto:akeilson@idtenergy.com
mailto:alex.rodriguez@diversegv.com
mailto:sam.khavari@divefsegv.com


EXHIBIT C 

Diversegy, as a wholly owned subsidiary of Shuk Holdings, IDT Energy, and Genie Energy Ltd., herein 
provides updated, consolidated SEC filings (8-K and 10-Q). All updated financial statements and SEC 
filings can be found at http://genie.com/invest0rs/sec-filing5/ 

http://genie.com/invest0rs/sec-filing5/
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UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D.C. 20549 

FORM 8-K 

CURRENT REPORT 
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): November 25, 2013 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter) 

Delaware 1-35327 45-2069276 
(State or other jurisdiction of incorporation) (Commission Eile Number) (IRS Employer Identification No.) 

550 Broad Street 
Newark, New Jersey 07102 

(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code) 

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: (973) 438-3500 

Not Applicable 
(Former name or former address, if changed since last report.) 

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of 
the following provisions (see General Instruction A.2. below): 

D Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425) 

D Soliciting material pursuant to Rule i4a-12 underthe Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12) 

D Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b)) 

n Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule I3e-4{c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c)) 



Item 5X)2 Departure of Directors or Certain Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Certain Officers; Compensatory 
Arrangements of Certain Officers. 

(b) On November 25, 2013, the Board of Directors of Genie Energy Ltd. (the "Company" or the "Registrant") determined to appoint Howard 
Jonas, who is 57 years of age, to serve as Chief Executive Officer of the Company, effective January 1, 2014, replacing Claude Pupkin. Mr. 
Pupkin will continue to serve as the President ofthe Registrant's, subsidiary American Shale Oil Corporation, and will serve as Senior Vice 
President of Business Development of the Registrant. 

Mr. Jonas has served as Chairman of the Board of the Company since January 2011, and will remain as Chairman of the Board. Mr. Jonas has 
served as Co-Vice Chairman of Genie Energy International Corporation since September 2009. Mr. Jonas founded IDT Corporation (IDT) in 
August 1990, and has served as Chairman of IDT's Board of Directors since its inception. Mr. Jonas has served as Chief Executive Officer of 
IDT since October 2009 and previously served in that capacity from December 1991 until July 2001. From August 2006 until August 2011, 
Mr. Jonas served as a director of Starz Media Holdings, LLC, Starz Media, LLC and Starz Foreign Holdings, LLC, each of which is a 
subsidiary-- of Liberty Media Corporation. In addition, Mr. Jonas has been a director of IDT Energy since June 2007 and a director of American 
Shale Oil Corporation since January 2008. Mr. Jonas is also the founder and has been President of Jonas Media Group (f/k/a Jonas Publishing) 
since its inception in 1979. Mr. Jonas received a B.A. in Economics from Harvard University. 

There are no arrangements or understandings between Mr. Jonas and any other person pursuant to which Mr. Jonas was appointed to his new 
position, nof is there any family relationship between any director or executive officer and Mr. Jonas. 

All ofthe following Related Person Transactions were approved in accordance with the Registrant's Related Person Transactions Policy. The 
Transition Services Agreement between the Registrant and IDT, dated October 28, 2011 (the "TSA"), pursuant to which IDT, which is 
controlled by Mr. Jonas, continues to provide certain services, including, but not limited to, services relating to human resources, employee 
benefits administration, finance, accounting, tax, internal audit, facilities, investor relations and legal for an agreed period following the spin­
off. Additionally, under the same agreement, the Registrant provided specified administrative services to certain of IDT's foreign subsidiaries. 
Furthermore-, IDT granted us a license to use the IDT and IDT Energy names for our retail energy provider (REP) business. As disclosed in the 
Registrant's proxy statement filed with Securities and Exchange Commission on April 8, 2013 ("Proxy Statement"), IDT charged the 
Registrant a total of 53,774,787.06 for seivices provided by IDT pursuant to the TSA during Fiscal 2012. The Registrant charged IDT for 
certain payroll allocation in the amount of SI 28,683.56 during Fiscal 2012. 

Michael Jonas, son of Mr. Jonas, became an employee of IDT in 2005. As disclosed in the Proxy Statement, during Fiscal 2012, Michael Jonas 
was an employee of Genie and his total compensation was $204,942 during that period, Michael Jonas' current annual base salary is 5185,400. 
In addition, in December 20II, the Compensation Committee approved the following subsidiary equity grants to Michael Jonas: 0.150% equity 
interest in Israel Energy Initiatives, Ltd.. 0.250% equity interest in Genie Mongolia, Inc. and .200% equity interest in Afek Oil and Gas Ltd. On 
November 4, 2013, the Compensation Committee approved an additional 1% equity grant in Genie MongoHa, Inc 

(c) The Registrant is presently negotiating a compensation arrangement with Mr. Jonas. The Registrant will update this Form 8-K with the 
Employment Agreement between the Company and Howard Jonas upon signing. 

A copy of the November 29, 2013 press release relating to the above events is attached hereto as Exhibit 99.1 and is incorporated herein by 
reference. 

Item 9.01. Financial Statements and Exhibits. 

(d) Exhibits. 

Exhibit Document 
No. 

99.1 Press Release ofthe Registrant, dated November 29,2013. 



SIGNATURE 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized. 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

Dated: November 29,2013 By: /s/ Claude Pupkin 

Claude Pupkin 
Chief Executive Officer 
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Exhibit 99.1 

Energy 
Getiie Energy (GNE) Announces Management Changes 

Chairman Howard Jonas Appointed CEO 

NEWARK, NJ - November 29, 2013: Genie Energy Ltd., (NYSE: GNE) a leading independent retail energy provider and a developer of 
unconventional energy projects, today said that its Board of Directors has appointed Chairman Howard Jonas to assume the additional role of 
Chief Executive Officer effective January 1, 2014. 

Mr. Jonas has served as Genie's Chairman since it was spun off from IDT Corporation in 2011. Claude Pupkin, Genie's current CEO, will 
remain at Genie and continue to serve as President of Genie's American Shale Oil subsidiary and Senior Vice President of Business 
Development. Geoff Rochwarger will remain as Genie's Vice Chairman and CEO of its IDT Energy subsidiary. 

"Claude Pupkin deserves tremendous credit for structuring and developing Genie Oil and Gas (GOGAS), preparing and managing Genie 
Energy through the spin-off from IDT, and for vigorously driving Genie's overall strategic development," Howard Jonas said. "He has done an 
outstanding job." 

"I am very pleased with the progress we have made since becoming a public company just over two years ago," Mr. Pupkin said. "IDT Energy 
has become one of the largest independent retail suppliers to residential customers in the Northeast, and Genie Oil and Gas has identified and is 
pursuing oil and gas exploration and development projects on three continents which hold tremendous promise. I look forward to continuing to 
contribute to the growth of Genie under Howard's active leadership." 

"Genie is poised for further growth and expansion, building on the existing strong base," Mr. Jonas said. "I am tremendously excited by the 
growth prospects of our retail energy business, and by the technologies and resources that GOGAS is pursuing. The global economy continues 
to recover, and with it, the need for oil and gas, particularly for transportation fuels. We have within our grasp the potential to help meet this 
demand with abundant, affordable and secure supplies of fuel. I look forward to taking a more active role in Genie at this stage as we continue 
to drive these opportunities for the benefit of our stockholders and partners." 

About Genie Energy Ltd.: 
Genie Energy Ltd (NYSE: GNE) is comprised of IDT Energy and Genie Oil and Gas (GOGAS). IDT Energy is a leading independent retail 
energy provider supplying electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in the Northeastern United States. GOGAS is 
a resource and technology development company focused on producing clean and affordable transportation fuels from the world's abundant 
kerogen-based oil shales and other oil and gas resources. GOGAS is currently developing oil shale projects in Colorado, Israel and Mongolia, 
and ati oil and gas exploration project in Israel. For more information, visit www.^enie.com . 

Contact: 
Genie Energy Investor Relations 
Bill Uh^y 
P: (973)438-3848 
E-mail: invest@i;enie.com 

http://www.%5eenie.com


EDGARbnii ne 

GENIE ENERGY LTD 

FORM 10-Q 
(Quarterly Report) 

Filed 11/12/13 for the Period Ending 09/30/13 

Address 

Telephone 
CIK 

Symbol 
SIC Code 

Industry 
Sector 

Fiscal Year 

550 BROAD STREET 
NEWARK. NJ 07012 
973-438-3500 
0001528356 
GNE 
4931 - Electric and Other Services Combined 
Electric Utilities 
Utilities 
12/31 

"**"•<' «v E D G A R b n l i n e 
http://www.edgar-onlJne.com 

© Copyright 2G13, EDGAR Online, Inc. All Rights Reserved. 

Distribution and use of this document restricted under EDGAR Online, inc. Terms of Use, 

http://www.edgar-onlJne.com


UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

Washington, D.C. 20549 

FORM 10-Q 

E] QUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

FOR THE QUARTERLY PERIOD ENDED SEPTEMBER 30,2013 

or 

n TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

Commission File Number: 1-35327 

GENIE ENERGY LTD 
(Exact Name of Registrant as SpeciHed in its Charter) 

Delaware 45-2069276 
(Stale or other jurisdiction of incorporation or (LR^. Employer Identification Number) 

organization) 

550 Broad Street, Newark, New Jersey 07102 
(Address of principal executive offices) (Zip Code) 

(973) 438-3500 
(Registrant's telephone number, including area code) 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) ofthe Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and 
(2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes \Ei No D 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every 
Interactive Data File required lo be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232.405 of this chapter) during the 
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit and post such tiles). Yes [H No D 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller 
reporting company. See the definitions of "large accelerated tiler," "accelerated filer" and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 ofthe 
Exchange Act. 

Large accelerated filer D Accelerated filer D 

Non-accelerated filer S (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) Smaller reporting company D 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.): Yes D No 

m 
As of November 7,2013, the registrant had the following shares outstanding: 

Class A common stock, $.01 par 
value: 1,574,326 shares outstanding 

Class B common stock, S.OI par value: 19,625,948 shares outstanding (excluding 58,978 treasury shares) 





GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

PART I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Item I. Financial Statements (Unaudited) 3 

Consolidated Balance Sheets 3 

Consolidated Statements of Operations 4 

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Loss 5 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows 6 

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 7 

Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 18 

Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks 30 

Item 4. Controls and Procedures 30 

PART II. OTHER INFORMATION 

Item 1. Legal Proceedings 31 

Item 1A Jiisk Factors 31 

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 31 

Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities 31 

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 31 

Item 5. Other Information 31 

Item 6. Exhibits 32 

SIGNATURES 33 



PART L FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

Item 1. Financial Statements (Unaudited) 

GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

Assets 
Current assets: 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted cash—short-term 
Certificates of deposh 
Marketable securities 
Trade accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $130 at September 30, 2013 and 

December31,20I2 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses 
Deferred income tax assets 
Other current assets 

Total current assets 
Property and equipment, net 
Goodwill 
Restricted cash—long-term 
Other assets 

Total assets 

Liabilities and equity 
Current liabilities: 

Trade accounts payabie 
Accrued expenses 
Advances from customers 
Income taxes payable 
Dividends payable 
Due to IDT Corporation 
Other current liabilities 

Total current liabilities 
Other liabilities 

Total liabilities 29,867 32,209 
Commitments and contingencies 
Equity: 

Genie Energy Ltd. stockholders' equity: 
Preferred stock, $.01 par value; authorized shares—10,000: 

Series 2012-A, designated shares—8,750; at liquidation preference, consisting of 1,917 and 1,605 
shares issued and outstanding at September 30,2013 and December 31,2012, respectively 

Class A common stock, $.01 par value; authorized shares—35,000; 1,574 shares issued and 
outstanding at September 30, 2013 and December 31,2012 

Class B common stock, $.01 par value; authorized shares—200,000; 19,685 and 19,827 shares issued 
and 19,626 and 19,800 shares outstanding at September 30,2013 and December 31,2012, 
respectively 

Additional paid-in capital 
Treasury stock, at cost, consisting of 59 and 27 shares of Class B common stock at September 30, 2013 

and December 31, 2012, respectively 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 
Retained earnings 

Total Genie Energy Ltd. stockholders' equity 
Noncontrolling interests: 

Noncontrolling interests 
Receivable for issuance of equity 

Total noncontrolling interests 
Total equity 

September 
30, 

2013 
(Unaudited) 

December 
31, 

2012 
(Note 1) 

(in thousands) 
S 71,847 

10,469 
5.339 

401 

39,133 
3.478 
2,663 

599 
1,755 

135.684 
583 

3.663 
1,039 
5.207 

S 146.176 

S 17,565 
7719 
1,074 
1,936 

— 
521 
827 

29,642 
225 

$ 

1 

$ 

69,409 
10,841 
2,205 

10,485 

40,932 
2,644 
3,315 

599 
771 

141,201 
409 

3,663 
2 

5,031 
150,306 

20,641 
7,832 
1,472 
1,244 

211 
600 
209 

32,209 
— 

16,303 

16 

197 
82,710 

(473) 
619 

22,340 
121,712 

(4,403) 
(1,000) 
(5,403) 

116,309 

13,639 

16 

198 
80,196 

(204) 
270 

28,375 
122,490 

(3,393) 
(1,000) 
(4,393) 

118,097 



Total liabilities and equity $ 146,176 $ 150,306 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 



GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 
(Unaudited) 

Three Months Ended 
September 30, 

Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 

Revenues 
Direct cost of revenues 
Gross profit 
Operating expenses and losses: 

Selling, general and administrative (i) 
Research and development 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

Income from operations 
Interest income 
Financing fees 
Other expense, net 

Income (loss) before income taxes 
Provision for income taxes _ 

Net income (loss) 
Net income attributable to noncontrolling interests 

Net income (loss) attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. 
Dividends on preferred stock 

Net income (loss) attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. common stockholders. $ 

Earnings (loss) per share attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. common 
stockholders: 

Basic 

Diluted 

Weighted-average number of shares used in calculation of earnings (loss) 
per share: 

Basic 

Diluted 

Dividends declared per common share 

(i) Stock-based compensation included in selling, general and 
administrative expenses 

2013 2012 2013 

19,939 

3,119 
(1.077) 
2,042 

(51) 
1.991 
(306) 

1,685 $ 

0.09 S 

0.08 S 

19,384 

21,089 

1,064 $ 

21,440 48,924 

2,890 
(3,974) 
(1,084) 
(1,557) 
(2,641) 

21,037 

21,037 

(2,641) $ 

(0.13) S 

(0.13) S 

0.05 $ 

973 $ 

(1,506) 
(2,717) 
(4,223) 
(1,197) 
(5,420) 

(917) 
(6,337) $ 

(0.33) S 

(0.33) S 

19,413 

19,413 

- $ 

3,155 $ 

2012 
(in thousands, except per share data) 

71,638 $ 63,725 $ 212,103 $ 164,056 
(51,699) (42,285) (163,179) (112,936) 

51,120 

12,666 
2.653 

672 
3,948 

59 
(729) 
(159) 

15,199 
2,264 

508 
3,469 

164 
(732) 

(11) 

37.572 
7,734 
2,607 
1,011 

.351 
(2,524) 

(344) 

40,572 
7,14! 
2,252 
1,155 

275 
(2,097) 

(95) 
(762) 

(2,833) 
(3,595) 
(1,694) 
(5,289) 

(5,289) 

(0.25) 
(0.25) 

2! ,025 

21,025 

0.133 

2,614 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements. 



GENIE ENERGY LTD. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

(Unaudited) 

Net income (loss) 
Other comprehensive income: 

Change in unrealized gain (loss) on available-for-sale securities, net 
of tax 

Foreign currency translation adjustments 
Other comprehensive income 
Comprehensive income (loss) 

Comprehensive income attributable to noncontrolling interests 
Comprehensive income (loss) attributable to Genie Energy Ltd. 

$ 

n 

Three Months Ended 
September 30, 

2013 

2,042 

59 
176 
235 

2,277 
(48) 

2,229 

$ 

E 

2012 

Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 

2013 
(in thousands) 
(1,084) S (4,223) $ 

(31) 
143 
112 

(972) 
(1357) 
(2,529) S_ 

15 
321 
336 

(3,887) 
(1,184) 
(5,071) $ 

2012 

(3,595) 

(25) 
70 
45 

(3.550) 
(1,677) 
(5,227) 

See accompanying notes to consolidated fmancial statements. 



GENIE ENERGY LTD. 
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FI.OWS 

(Unaudited) 

Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 

2013 2012 

Operating activities 
Net loss 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities: 

Depreciation 
Deferred income taxes 
Stock-based compensation 
Loss on disposal of property 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

Change in assets and liabilities: 
Restricted cash 
Trade accounts receivable 
Inventory 
Prepaid expenses 
Other current assets and other assets 
Trade accounts payable, accrued expenses and other current liabilities 
Advances from customers 
Due to IDT Corporation 
Income taxes payable 

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities 

Investing activities 
Capital expenditures 
Capital contributions to AMSO, LLC 
Issuance of note receivable 
Purchases of licen?ies and security deposit 
Purchases of certificates of deposit 
Proceeds from maturities of certificates of deposit 
Purchase of marketable securities 
Proceeds from maturities and sale of marketable securities 

Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities 

Financing activities 
Increase in restricted cash 
Dividends paid 
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 
Repurchases of Class B common stock from employees 

Net cash used in financing activities 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 

(in thousands) 

(4,223) $ (3,595) 

80 
— 

3.155 
37 

2,607 

(665) 
1,799 
(834) 
651 

(950) 
(2,556) 

(399) 
(78) 
693 

(683) 

(300) 
(2,345) 

(375) 
— 

(5,330) 
2205 

(3) 
10,033 
3,885 

(826) 
53 

(270) 
(1.043) 

279 
2,438 

69,409 
S 71.847 $ 

91 
4,587 
2,614 

— 
2,252 

280 
(9,567) 
1,296 
1,264 

(1,084) 
4,508 

398 
(182) 

(1,709) 
1,153 

(64) 
(2,925) 

(650) 
(175) 

(2,205) 
— 

(11,484) 
— 

(17,503) 

(10,010) 
(4,205) 

5 
(133) 

(14,343) 
(8) 

(30,701) 
102,220 
71,519 

See accompanying notes lo consolidated fmancial statements. 



GENIE ENERGY LTD. 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(Unaudited) 

Note 1—Basis of Presentation 

The accompanying unaudited consolidated financial statements of Genie Energy Ltd. and its subsidiaries (the "Company" or "Genie") 
have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") for interim 
financial information and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X. Accordingly, they do not include all ofthe 
information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete fmancial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting 
of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been included. Operating results for the three and nine months 
ended September 30,2013 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ending December 31,2013. The 
balance sheet at December 31,2012 has been derived from the Company's audited fmancial statements at that date but does not include all of 
the information and footnotes required by U.S. GAAP for complete financial statements. For further information, please refer to the 
consolidated financial statements and footnotes thereto included in the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 
31, 2012, as filed with the U.S, Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"). 

Genie owns 99.3% of its subsidiary. Genie Energy International Corporation ("GEIC"), which owns 100% of IDT Energy and 92% of 
Genie Oil and Gas, Inc. ("GOGAS"). IDT Energy has outstanding deferred stock units granted to directors and employees that represent an 
interest of 2.3% ofthe equity of IDT Energy. Genie's principal businesses consist ofthe following: 

• IDT Energy, a retail energy provider ("REP") supplying electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in the 
Northeastern United States ; and 

• Genie Oil and Gas, which is pioneering technologies to produce clean and affordable transportation fuels from the world's abundant 
oil shales and other fuel resources, which consists of (1) American Shale Oil Corporation ("AMSO"), which holds and manages a 
50% interest in American Shale Oil, L.L.C. ("AMSO, LLC"), the Company's oil shale project in Colorado, (2) an 88.6% interest in 
Israel Energy Initiatives, Ltd. ("lEI"), the Company's oil shale project in Israel, (3) an 89% interest in Afek Oil and Gas, Ltd. 
(formerly Genie Israel Oil and Gas, Ltd,) ("Afek"), the Company's conventional oil and gas exploration project in the southem 
portion of the Golan Heights, and (4) Genie Mongolia, the Company's oil shale exploration project in Central Mongolia. 

Seasonality and Weather 

IDT Energy's revenues are impacted by, among other things, the weather and the seasons. Weather conditions have a significant impact 
on the demand for natural gas for heating and electricity for air conditioning- Typically, colder winters and hotter summers increase demand for 
natural gas and electricity, respectively. Milder winters and/or summers have the opposite effect. Natural gas revenues typically increase in the 
fii^t quarter due to increased heating demands, and electricity revenues typically increase in the third quarter due to increased air conditioning 
use. Approximately 47% and 50% of IDT Energy's natural gas revenues were generated in the first quarter of 2012 and 2011, respectively, 
when demand for heating was highest. Ahhough the demand for electricity is not as seasonal as natural gas, approximately 34% and 35% of 
IDT Energy's electricity revenues were generated in the thirdquarter of 2012 and 2011, respectively. As aresuh,the Company's revenues and 
operating income are subject to material seasonal variations, and the interim financial results are nol necessarily indicative of the estimated 
financial results for the fuh year. 

Note 2—Fair Value Measurements 

The fohowing table presents the balance of assets and liabilities at September 30,2013 measured at fair value on a recurring basis: 

_ Level 1 (1) Level 2 (2) Level 3 (3) Total 

Assets: 
Corporate debt securities 
Derivative contracts 
Total 

Liabilities: 
Derivative contracts 

(1)-quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities 
(2) - observable inputs other than quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities 
(3) - no observable pricing inputs in the market 

$ 

$ 

S 

401 
_ 
401 

_ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

(in thousands) 

__ 
446 

446 

183 

$ 

$ 

$ 

634 
634 

575 

$ 

$ 

$ 

401 
1,080 

1,481 

758 



The Company's derivative contracts consist of put and call options and natural gas and electricity future contracts in which the 
underlying asset is a forward contract, which are classified as either Level 2 or Level 3, The Level 2 derivatives are valued using observable 
inputs based on quoted market prices in active markets for similar contracts. The fair value of the Level 3 derivatives was based on the value of 
the underlying contracts, estimated in conjunction with the counterparty and could not be corroborated by the market. 

The Company's subsidiary, GOGAS, issued a stock option in June 2011 that is exercisable until April 9,2015 at an exercise price of S5.0 
million. At September 30,2013, the fair value ofthe GOGAS stock option was nil. 

There were no assets or liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) during the 
three and nine months ended September 30,2012. The following table summarizes the change in the balance of the Company's assets and 
liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring basis using significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) during the three and nine months ended 
September 30,2013: 

Three Monlhs Ended Nine Months Ended 
September 30,2013 September 30,2013 

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities 
(in thousands) 

Balance, beginning of period $ 299 $ (20) $ - S -
Total gains (losses) (reahzed or unrealized) included in earnings in "Direct 

cost of revenues" 335 (555) 275 (575) 
Purchases, sales, issuances and settlements: 

Purchases — — 359 — 
Transfers in (out) of Level 3 ^ ^ — — 

Balance, end of period $ 634 $ (575) $ 634 $ (575) 

The amount of total gains or losses for the period included in earnings in 
"Direct cost of revenues" attributable to the change in unrealized gains 
or losses relating to assets and liabilities held al the end of the period S 354 $ (575) $ 325 $ (575) 

Fair Value of Other Financial Instruments 

The estimated fair value of the Company's other financial instiuments was determined using available market infonnation or olher 
appropriate valuation methodologies. However, considerable judgment is required in interpreting this data to develop estimates of fair value. 
Consequently, the estimates are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that could be realized or would be paid in a current market exchange. 

At September 30,2013 and December 31,2012, the carrying amounts ofthe Company's financial instruments included in restricted 
cash—short-term, certificates of deposit, prepaid expenses, other current assets, advances from customers, dividends payable, due to IDT 
Corporation and olher current liabilities approximated fair value because of the short period of time to maturity, The fair value estimates for 
restricted cash—short-term were classified as Level 1 and certificates of deposit, prepaid expenses, other currenl assets, advances from 
customers, dividends payable, due to IDT Corporation and other current liabilities were classified as Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. 

At September 30,2013 and December 31, 2012, the carrying amountof restricted cash—long-term approximated fair value. The fair 
value was estimated based on the anticipated cash flows once the restrictions are removed, which was classified as Level 3 of the fair value 
hierarchy. 

At September 30,2013 and December 31,2012, other asseis included an aggregate of $0.9 million and $0.7 million, respectively, in 
notes receivable primarily from employees. The carrying amounts of the notes receivable approximated fair value. The fair value ofthe notes 
receivable was estimated based on the Company's assumptions, and were classified as Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. 



Note 3—Marketable Securities 

The following is a summary of marketable securities: 

Amortized 
Cost 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Gains 

Gross 
Unrealized 

Losses Fair Value 

$ 

$ 

401 

10,500 

s 

S 

(in thousands) 

- s 

35 S 

- $ 

(50) $ 

401 

10,485 

Available-for-sale securities: 
September 30,2013: 

Corporate debt securities 

December 31,2012: 
Corporate debt securities 

Proceeds from maturities and sale of available-for-sale securities were S3.5 million and SlO.O million in the three and nine months ended 
September 30,2013, respectively. There were no maturities or sales of available-for-sale securities in the three and nine months ended 
September 30, 2012. There were no realized gains or losses from sales of available-for-sale securities in the three and nine months ended 
September 30, 2013 and 2012. The Company uses the specific identification method in computing the gross realized gains and gross realized 
losses on the sales of marketable securities. 

The contractual maturities of the Company's available-for-sale corporate debt securities at September 30,2013 were as follows: 

Within one year 
After one year through five years 
After five years through ten years 
After ten years 

Total 

Fair Value 
(in 

thousands) 
i 401 

401 

The following available-for-sale securities were in an unrealized loss position for which other-than-lemporary impairments had not been 
recognized: 

Unrealized 
Losses Fair Value 

December 31,2012: 
Corporate debt securities 

(in thousands) 

50 $ 2,500 

Al December 31,2012, there were no securities in a continuous unrealized loss position for 12 months or longer. 

Note 4—Derivative Instruments 

The primary risk managed by the Company using derivative instruments is commodity price risk. Nalural gas and electricity put and call 
options and future contracts are entered into as hedges against unfavorable fluctuations in markel prices of natural gas and electrichy. The 
Company does not apply hedge accounting to IDT Energy's contracts and options, therefore the changes in fair value are recorded in earnings. 
Al September 30,2013 and December 31,2012, IDT Energy's contracts and options were traded on the New York Mercantile Exchange or 
were over-the-counter bilateral agreements with BP Energy Company. 

Thesummarized volume of IDT Energy's outstanding contracts and options as of September 30,2013 was as follows: 

Commodity Settlement Dates Volume 
Electricity 
Electricity 
Electricity 
Electricity 
Electricity 
Electricity 
Natural gas 
Natural gas 
Natural gas 

December 2013 
January 2014 
February 2014 
July 2014 
August 2014 
September 2014 
November 2013 
December 2013 
January 2014 

88,340 MWh 
44,000 MWh 
40,000 MWh 
52,800 MWh 
50,400 MWh 
16,800 MWh 
150,000 Dth 
775,000 Dth 
375,000 Dth 



Natural gas February 2014 1,425 jOOO Dth 
Natural gas March 2014 225,000 Dth 
Natural gas July 2014 77,500 Dth 



The fair value of outstanding derivative instruments recorded as asseis in the accompanying consohdated balance sheets were as follows: 

September December 
30, 31, 

Asset Derivatives Balance Sheet Location 2013 2012 
(in thousands) 

Derivatives nol designated or not qualifying as hedging 
instruments: 

Energy contracts and options Other currenl assets $ 1,080 $ 308 

The fair value of outstanding derivative instruments recorded as liabilities in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets were as 
follows: 

December 
September 31, 

Liability Derivatives Balance Sheet Location 30,2013 2012 
(in thousands) 

Derivatives not designated or not qualifying as hedging 
instruments: 

Energy contracts and options Other current liabilities $ 758 $ 152 

The effects of derivative instruments on the consolidated statemenis of operations were as follows: 

Amount of Gain (Loss) Recognized on Derivatives 
Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended 

September 30, September 30, 
Derivatives not designated Location of Gain (Loss) 
or not qualifying as Recognized on 
hedging instruments Derivatives 2013 2012 2013 2012 

(in thousands) 
Energy contracts and options Direct cost of revenues $ (426) $ (17) $ (394) $ (101) 

Note 5—Investment in American Shale Oil, LLC 

The Company accounts for its 50% ownership interest in AMSO, LLC using the equity method since the Company has the ability to 
exercise significant influence over its operating and financial matters, although it does not control AMSO, LLC. AMSO, LLC is a variable 
interest entity, however, the Company has determined that it is nol the primary beneficiary, as tlie Company does not have the power to direct 
the activities of AMSO, LLC that most significantiy impact AMSO, LLC's economic performance. 

AMSO has agreed lo fund AMSO, LLC's expenditures as follows: 20% ofthe initial $50 million of expenditures, 35% ofthe next $50 
million in approved expenditures and 50% of approved expenditures in excess of $100 million. AMSO has also agreed to fund 40% of tiie costs 
of the one-time payment for conversion of AMSO, LLC's research, deveiopmeni and demonstration lease to a commercial lease, in the event 
AMSO, LLC's application for conversion is approved. The remaining amounts are to be funded by Total S.A. ("Total"). As of September 30, 
2013, the cumulative contributions of AMSO and Total to AMSO, LLC were $68.0 million. AMSO's allocated share of the net loss of AMSO, 
LLC, which is currently 35%, is included in "Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC" in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations. 

The following table summarizes the change in the balance of the Company's investment in AMSO, LLC; 

Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 

2013 2012 
(in thousands) 

Balance, beginning of period S 242 $ (685) 
Capital contributions 2,345 2,925 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC (2,607) (2,252) 
Balance, end of period S (20) S (12) 

10 



At September 30, 2013, the liability for the equity loss in AMSO, LLC was included in "Accrued expenses" in the consolidated balance 
sheet. At December 31,2012, the investment in AMSO, LLC was included in "Other assets" in the consolidated balance sheet. 

AMSO's share of AMSO, LLC's approved budget for the year ending December 31,2013 is $4.2 million, although the Company 
currently anticipates that total expenditures for 2013 will be below budget. Al September 30,2013, AMSO had funded S2.3 million of its share 
ofthe 2013 budget. In October 2013, AMSO contributed $0.4 ntillion lo AMSO, LLC. The Company anticipates that AMSO's total 
contiibulions for 2013 will not exceed $2.7 million, AMSO is obligated to fund its share of the expenditures il approves in accordance with the 
agreement between the parties. 

Either Total or AMSO may terminate its obligations to make capital contributions and withdraw as a member of AMSO, LLC. Although, 
subjecl to certain exceptions, AMSO and Total are not obligated to make additional contributions beyond their respective shares, they could 
dilute or forfeit their ownership interests in AMSO, LLC if they fail to contribute their respective shares of additional funding. The agreements 
with Total provide for vaiying consequences for AMSO's failure lo fund its share at different stages of the project, including dilution of 
AMSO's interest in AMSO, LLC or paying interest lo Total for expenditures they fund on behalf of AMSO. Additionally, even if AMSO were 
to withdraw its interest in AMSO, LLC, it will remain liable for its share of expenditures for safety and environmental reclamation related to 
events occurring prior to its withdrawal- AMSO is evaluating its options with respect to funding AMSO, LLC during 2014, and funding of less 
than its full share would result in dilution of its interest in AMSO, LLC. 

At September 30, 2013, the Company's maximum exposure to additional loss as a result of its required investment in AMSO, LLC was 
$1.9 million, based on AMSO, LLC's 2013 budget. The Company's maximum exposure lo additional loss could increase based on the 
situations described above. The maximum exposure al September 30,2013 was detemiined as follows: 

(in 
thousands) 

AMSO's committed investment in AMSO, LLC based on the 2013 budget $ 4,249 
Less: cumulative capital contributions to AMSO, LLC (2,345) 
Less: liability for equity loss in AMSO, LLC at September 30, 2013 (20) 

Maximum exposure to additional loss $ 1,884 

Summarized unaudited statements of operations of AMSO, LLC are as follows: 

Three Months Ended Nine Months Ended 
September 30, September 30, 

2013 2012 2013 2012 
(in thousands) 

Operating expenses: 
General and administrative $ 162 S 132 $ 435 $ 389 
Research and development 1,758 1,320 7,055 6,046 

Loss from operations 1,920 1,452 7,490 6,435 
Other income — — 41 — 
Net loss $ (1,920) $ (1,452) $ (7,449) $ (6,435) 
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Note 6—Equity 

Changes in the components of equity were as follows: 

Nine Months Ended 
September 30,2013 

Attributable 
to 

Genie 

$ 122,490 
(615) 
(270) 

53 
1,837 

357 
2,931 

(5,420) 
349 

(5,071) 
$ 121,712 

Noncontrolling 
Interests 

(in thousands) 
$ (4,393) S 

— 
— 
— 

(1,837) 
(357) 

— 

1,197 
(13) 

1,184 
$ (5,403) $ 

Total 

118,097 
(615) 
(270) 

53 
— 
— 

2,931 

(4,223) 
336 

(3,887) 
116,309 

Balance, December 31,2012 
Accrued dividends on preferred stock 
Restiicted Class B common stock purchased from employees for tax withholdings 
Exercise of stock options 
Issuance of Genie Class B common stock to holders of deferred stock units of subsidiary 
Grants of equity of subsidiaries 
Stock-based compensation 
Comprehensive (toss) income: 

Net (loss) income 
Other comprehensive income (loss) 
Comprehensive (loss) income 

Balance, September 30,2013 

Dividend Payments 

On February 15, 2013, the Company paid a pro-rated Base Dividend of $0.1317 per share on its Series 2012-A Preferred Slock 
(''Preferred Stock") for the fourth quarter of 2012. On May 15, 2013 and on August 15,2013, the Company paid a quarterly Base Dividend of 
$0.1594 per share on the Preferred Stock for the first and second quarters of 2013. In October 2013, the Company's Board of Directors 
declared a quarterly BaseDividendof $0.1594 per share on the Preferred Stock for the thirdquarter of 2013. The dividend will be paid on or 
about November 15, 2013 to stockholders of record as ofthe close of business on November 4,2013, The aggregate dividends declared and 
paid in the nine months ended September 30.2013 were $0.8 million. 

Stock Repurchase Program 

On March 11,2013, the Board of Direclors of the Company approved a stock repurchase program for the repurchase of up to an 
aggregate of 7 million shares of the Company's Class B common stock. At September 30, 2013, no repurchases had been made and 7 million 
shares remained available for repurchase under the stock repurchase program. 

Exchange Offers and Issuances of Preferred Stock 

On August 2, 2012, the Company initiated an offer to exchange up lo 8.75 million outstanding shares of its Class B common stock for the 
same number of shares of its Preferred Slock. The offer expired on October 10,2012. On October 17,2012, the Coinpany issued 1,604,591 
shares of its Preferred Slock in exchange for an equal number of shares of Class B common stock tendered in the exchange offer. 

On November 26,2012, the Company initialed an offer to exchange up to 7.15 million outstanding shares of its Class B common stock 
for the same number of shares of its Preferred Stock. The offer expired on March 5,2013. On March 11, 2013, the Company issued 313,376 
shares of its Preferred Stock in exchange for an equal number of shares of Class B common stock tendered in the exchange offer. 

Grants and Sales of Equity in Subsidiaries 

Per the terms of his employment agreement. Dr. Harold Vinegar, Chief Scientist of the Company ("Vinegar"), has an option to purchase, 
al fair value (with reference lo the Company's historical funding), up to 10% of the GOGAS ventures in which he is a key contributor : 

• In November 2008, Vinegar purchased a 10% interest in lEI.In connection with this purchase, the purchase agreement provides 
Vinegar with certain no cost anti-dilution protection as follows. If lEI issues certain of its shares in order to raise capital until the 
capitalization of lEl equals $20 million, lEI shall issue to Vinegar additional shares lo maintain his 10% interest in lEI. 

• In October 2013, the Company completed the sale of 9.5% ofthe equity in Afek to Vinegar as per the terms of his employment 
agreement. 
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In May 2013, the Company granted 1.0% of the equity in lEI to certain employees of the Company. The grants vested immediately on 
the date ofthe grant. The fair value on the dale ofthe grant was estimated to be $0.2 million, which was recognized in May 2013. 

The Company elected to exchange vested deferred stock units of IDT Energy previously granted to employees and directors of the 
Company for shares ofthe Company's Class B common stock upon the vesting ofthe deferred stock units based on the relative fair value of the 
shares exchanged. Accordingly, in August 2013, the Company issued 133,758 shares ofthe Company's Class B common stock in exchange for 
23.6 vested deferred stock units of IDT Energy. 

On November 4, 2013, the Company's Board of Directors approved the grant of 1.0% of the equity in Genie Mongolia to Michael Jonas, 
Executive Vice President of GOGAS, and the executive managing the Company's business in Mongolia. Michael Jonas is also the son of 
Howard Jonas, Chairman ofthe Board of Directors ofthe Company. 

Variable Interest Entity 

In 2011, an employee of IDT Corporation ("IDT") until his employment was terminated effective December 30,2011, incorporated 
Citizens Choice Energy, LLC ("CCE"), which is a REP that resells electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in the 
Stale of New York. Tari Corporation ("Tan") is the sole owner of CCE. In addition, DAD Sales, LLC ("DAD"), which is 100% owned by Tari, 
used its nelwork of door-to-door sales agents to obtain customers for CCE. In December 2012, DAD ceased to acquire customers for CCE. The 
Company provided CCE, DAD and Tari with substantially all of the cash required to fund their operations. The Company determined that at 
the present time il has the power lo direct the activities of CCE. DAD and Tari that most significantly impact their economic performance and 
it has the obligation to absorb losses of CCE, DAD and Tari that could potentially be significant to CCE, DAD and Tari on a stand-alone basis. 
The Company therefore determined that it is the primary beneficiary of CCE, DAD and Tari, and as a resuh, the Company consolidates CCE, 
DAD and Tari within its IDT Energy segment. The Company does not own any interest in CCE, DAD or Tari and thus the net income or loss 
incurred by CCE, DAD and Tari was attributed to noncontrolling interests in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 

Net income (loss) of CCE, DAD and Tari and aggregate net funding (provided by) repaid to the Company by CCE, DAD and Tari were 
as follows: 

Net income (loss): 
CCE 

DAD 

Tari 

Aggregate funding (provided by) repaid to the Company, net 

Summarized combined balance sheets of CCE, DAD and Tari are as follows: 

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 
Restricted cash 
Trade accounts receivable 
Prepaid expenses 
Other current assets 
Property and equipment, net 
Olher asseis 

Total assets 

Liabilities and members' interests 
Current liabilities 
Due to IDT Energy 
Noncontrolling interests 

Total liabilities and noncontrolling interests 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

blk 

Three Months Ended 
September 

2013 

697 $ 

- $ 

- $ 

(601) $ 

)ws: 

30, 
2012 

Nine Months Ended 
September 

2013 
(in thousands) 

1,895 

(124) 

61 

(1,069) 

$ 

$ 

$ 

2360 

(35) 

10 

3,802 

September 

S 

S_ 

$ 

S_ 

30, 
2013 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

30, 
2012 

2,828 

(313) 

98 

553 

December 31, 
2012 

(in thousands) 

1,180 
56 

2230 
406 
310 

489 
4,671 

2,383 
1,280 
1,008 
4,671 

$ 

$ 

$ 

*_ 

1,047 
39 

4,168 
485 
519 

38 
493 

6,789 

3,035 
5.082 

(1328) 
6,789 

The assets of CCE, DAD and Tari may only be used to settle obligations of CCE, DAD and Tari, and may not be used for other 
consolidated entities. The liabilities of CCE, DAD and Tari are non-recourse to the general credit of the Company's other consolidated entities. 
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Note 7—Earnings (Loss) Per Share 

Basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income attributable to all classes of common stockholders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of shares of all classes of common stock outstanding during the applicable period. Diluted earnings per share is 
computed in the same manner as basic earnings per share, except that the number of shares is increased lo include restricted stock still subject 
to risk of forfeiture and to assume exercise of potentially dilutive stock options using the treasury stock method, unless the effect of such 
increase is anti-dilutive. 

The weighted-average number of shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share attributable to the 
Company's common stockholders consists ofthe following: 

Three Months Ended 
September 30, 

Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 

2013 2012 2013 2012 

Basic weighted-average number of shares 
Effect of dilutive securities: 

Stock options 
Non-vested restricted Class B common stock 

Diluted weighted-average number of shares 

19384 

40 
1,665 

(in thousands) 
21,037 19,413 21,025 

21,089 21.037 19.413 21,025 

The following shares were excluded from the diluted loss per share computations because their inclusion would have been anti-dilutive: 

Three Months Ended 
September 30, 

Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 

2013 

Stock options 
Non-vested restricted Class B common slock 
Shares excluded from the calculation of diluted eamings per share 

2012 2013 
(in thousands) 

457 
1,988 

449 
1,785 

2,445 2,234 

2012 

457 

2,445 

The dividends on the 1.9 million shares of Preferred Stock outstanding al September 30,2013 are expected lo reduce net income 
available to common stockholders by $ 1,2 million each year, compared to periods prior to the issuance of the Preferred Stock. 

An entity affiliated with Lord (Jacob) Rothschild has a one-time option through November 12, 2017 to exchange its GOGAS shares for 
shares of the Company with equal fair value as determined by the parties. The number of shares issuable in such an exchange is nol currently 
determinable. If this option is exercised, the shares issued by the Company may dilute the earnings per share in future periods. 

An employee of the Company, pursuant lo the terms of his employment agreement, has the option to exchange his equity interests in lEI, 
Afek, and any equity interest that he may acquire in Genie Mongolia or certain other enlilies that may be created by the Company, for shares of 
the Company. Employees and direclors of the Company that were previously granted restricted slock of lEI have the right to exchange the 
restricted stock of lEI, upon vesting of such shares, into shares of the Company's Class B common stock. Also, IDT Energy has the right to 
exchange the deferred stock units it previously granted to employees and directors ofthe Company, upon vesting of such units, into shares of 
the Company's Class B common stock or to redeem the units for cash. These exchanges, if elected, would be based on the relative fair value of 
the shares exchanged. The number of shares of the Company's stock issuable in an exchange is not currently determinable. If shares ofthe 
Company's stock are issued upon such exchange, the Company's earnings per share may be diluted in future periods. 

Note 8—Related Party Transaction 

The Company was formerly a subsidiary of IDT, On October 28,201 l.the Company was spun-off by IDT and became an independent 
public company through a pro rata distiibution of the Company's common stock to EDT's stockholders (the "Spin-Off"). The Company entered 
into various agreements with IDT prior to the Spin-Off including a Transition Services Agreement, which provides for certain services to be 
performed by the Company and IDT. 
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Following the Spin-off, IDT charges the Company for services it provides pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement. The charges 
for these services are included in "Selling, general and administrative" expense in the consolidated statements of operations. 

Pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement, the Company provides specified administrative services to certain of IDT's foreign 
subsidiaries. The Company's charges for these services reduce the Company's "Selling, general and administrative" expenses. 

Three Months Ended 
September 30, 

Nine Months Ended 
September 30, 

2013 2012 2013 2012 

913 $ 
(in thousands) 

974 $ 2363 $ 2,517 

82 $ 20 $ 189 S 66 

Amount IDT charged the Company $ 

Amount the Company charged IDT $ 

Note 9—Business Segment Information 

The Conipany owns 99.3% of its subsidiary, GEIC. which owns 100% of IDT Energy and 92% of GOGAS. IDT Energy has outstanding 
deferred slock units granted to directors and employees that represent an interest of 2.3% of the equity of IDT Energy. The Company has two 
reportable business segments: IDT Energy, a REP s upplying electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in the 
Northeastern United States, and Genie Oil and Gas, which is pioneering technologies to produce clean and affordable transportation fuels from 
the worid's abundant oil shales and other fuel resources . The Genie Oil and Gas segment consists of (1) a 50% interest in AMSO, LLC, the 
Company's oil shale project in Colorado, (2) an 88.6% interest in lEI, the Company's oil shale project in Israel. (3) an 89% interest in Afek, the 
Company's conventional oil and gas exploration project in the southem portion of the Golan Heights, and (4) Genie Mongolia, the Company's 
oil shale exploration project in Central Mongolia. Corporate costs include unallocated compensation, consulting fees, legal fees, business 
development expenses and other corporate-related general and administrative exjjenses. Corporate does not generate any revenues, nor does it 
incur any direct cost of revenues. 

The Company's reportable segments are distinguished by types of service, customers and methods used to provide their services. The 
operating results of these business segments are regulariy reviewed by the Company's chief operating decision maker. 

The accounting policies of the segments are the same as the accounting policies of the Company as a whole. The Company evaluates the 
performance of its business segments based primarily on operating income (loss). There are no significant asymmetrical allocations to 
segments. 

Operating results for the business segments of the Company were as follows: 

(in thousands) 
Three Months Ended September 30,2013 
Revenues 
Income (loss) from operations 
Research and development 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

Three Months Ended September 30,2012 
Revenues 
Income (loss) from operations 
Research and development 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

IDT 
Energy 

$ 71,638 
9,596 

__. 
— 

$ 63,725 
8.679 

— 
— 

S 

$ 

Genie Oil 
and Gas 

(3,699) 
2,653 

672 

(3,171) 
2,264 

508 

Corporate 

$ 
(L949) 

— 
— 

$ 
(2,039) 

_ 
__ 

$ 

$ 

Total 

71,638 
3,948 
2,653 

672 

63,725 
3,469 
2.264 

508 
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$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

IDT 
Energy 

212,103 
18,972 

164,056 
17,108 

IDT 
Energy 

68,722 

65377 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Genie Oil 
and Gas 

(11,507) 
7,734 
2,607 

(10,169) 
7,141 
2,252 

Genie Oil 
and Gas 

37,044 

36,561 

Corporate 

$ 
(6,454) 

J 

(5,784) 

Corporate 

$ 40,410 

$ 48368 

$ 

$ 

$ 

$ 

Total 

212,103 
1,011 
7,734 
2,607 

164,056 
1,155 
7,141 
2,252 

Total 

146,176 

150,306 

(in thousands) 
Nine Months Ended September 30,2013 
Revenues 
Income (loss) from operations 
Research and development 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

Nine Months Ended September 30,2012 
Revenues 
Income (loss) from operations 
Research and development 
Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC 

Total assets for the business segments of the Company were as follows: 

(in thousands) 
Total assets: 

September 30,2013 

December 31,2012 

Note 10—Commitments and Contingencies 

Purchase and Other Comminnents 

The Company had purchase commitments of $13 million as of September 30,2013. 

In October 2013, the Company enieredinto a conlract related to Afek's exploration drilling program pursuant to which the Company's 
purchase commitment is currently $0.8 million. 

Tax Audits 

In July 2013, IDT Energy negotiated a settlement of an audit of its New York Slate sales and use lax for the period from June 2003 
through August 2009. As a result, IDT Energy paid S0.9 million in July 2013, all of which was previously accrued. 

The Company is subject lo audits in various jurisdictions for various taxes. At September 30,2013, the Company accrued for the 
estimated losses from audits for which it is probable that a liability has been incurred. At September 30,2013, the Company's reasonably 
possible liability above the amount accrued was zero to $0.3 milhon. Amounts asserted by taxing authorities or the amount ultimately assessed 
against the Company could be greater than the accrued amount. Accordingly, additional provisions may be recorded in the future as revised 
estimates are made or underlying matters are setded or resolved. Imposition of assessments as a result of tax audits could have an adverse effect 
on the Company's results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. 

Letter of Credit 

As of September 30, 2013, the Company had a $2.0 million letter of credit outstanding for the benefit of a regional transmission 
organization that coordinates the movement of wholesale electricity. The letter of credit expires in March 2014. 

Performance Bonds 

IDT Energy has performance bonds issued through a third party for the benefit of various states in order to comply with the stales' 
financial requirements for retail energy providers. At September 30,2013, IDT Energy had aggregate performance bonds of $3.0 milhon 
outstanding. 

Other Contingencies 

Since 2009, IDT Energy has been a party to a Preferred Supplier Agreement with BP Energy Company ("BP"), pursuant to which BP is 
IDT Energy's preferred provider of electricity and nalural gas. The agreement's termination date is June 30, 2014, which automatically renews 
for an additional year unless either party provides written notice to the olher party at least six months prior to June 30, 2014 that il will not 
renew the agreement. Under the arrangement, IDT Energy purchases electricity and natural gas at market rate plus a fee, IDT Energy's 
obligations to BP are secured by a first security interest in deposits or receivables from utilities in connection with their purchase of IDT 
Energy's customer receivables, and in any cash deposits or letters of credit posted in connection with any collateral accounts with BP. IDT 
Energy's ability to purchase electricity and natural gas under this agreement is subject to satisfaction of certain condhions including the 
maintenance of certain covenants. At September 30, 2013, the Company was in compliance with such covenants. As uf September 30 .2013, 
restricted cash of $0.4 million and trade accounts receivable of $37.7 million were pledged to BP as collateral for the payment of IDT Energy's 



trade accounts payable to BP of SI 3.8 million as of September 30 , 2013. 
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Note 11—Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income 

The changes in accumulated other comprehensive income by component, including reclassifications out of accumulated other 
comprehensive income, were as follows: 

Unrealized 
Loss on 

Available-
for-Sale 

Securities 

Foreign 
Currency 

Translation 

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive 
Income 

$ 

$ 

(15) $ 

(34) 

49 
15 
- $ 

285 $ 

334 

— 

334 
619 $ 

270 

300 

49 
349 
619 

Location of (Gain) 
Loss Recognized 

Interest income 

(in thousands) 
Balance at December 31, 2012 
Olher comprehensive (loss) income before 

reclassifications 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other 

comprehensive income 
Net olher comprehensive income 
Balance al September 30,2013 

Note 12—Revolving Line of Credit 

As of April 23,2012, the Company and IDT Energy entered into a Loan Agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank for a revolving line of 
credit for up to a maximum principal amount of $25.0 million. On April 30,2013, the Loan Agreement was modified to extend the maturity 
date from April 30, 2013 to April 30,2014. The proceeds from the line of credit maybe used to provide working capital and for the issuance of 
letters of credit. The Company agreed to deposit cash in a money market account al JPMorgan Chase Bank as collateral for the Une of credit 
equal to the greater of (a) $10.0 million or (b) the sum ofthe amount of letters of credit outstanding plus the outstanding principal underthe 
revolving note. The Company is nol permitted lo withdraw funds or exercise any authority over the required balance in the collateral accouni. 
The principal outstanding will bear interest al the lesser of (a) the LIBOR rate multiplied by the statutory reserve rate established by the Board 
of Governors of the Federal Reserve Syslem plus 1.0% per annum, or (b) the maximum rale per annum permitted by whichever of applicable 
federal or Texas laws permit the higher interest rate. Interest is payable at least every three months and all outstanding principal and any 
accrued and unpaid interest is due on the maturity date. The Company pays a quarterly unused commitment fee of 0.08% per annum on the 
difference between $25.0 million and the average daily outstanding principal balance of the note. In addition, as of April 23,2012, GEIC issued 
a Corporate Guaranty to JPMorgan Chase Bank whereby GEIC unconditionally guarantees the full payment of all indebtedness of the 
Company and IDT Energy underthe Loan Agreement. At September 30, 2013, there were no amounts borrowed under the hne of credit, $2.0 
million was utilized for letters of credit and cash collateral of SlO.O million was included in "Restricted cash" in the consolidated balance sheet. 
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

The following information should be read in conjunction with the accompanying consolidated financial stalements and the associated 
notes thereto of this Quarterly Report, and the audited consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto and our Management's 
Discussion and Analysis of Financiiil Condition and Results of Operations contained in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31,2012, as filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (or SEC). 

As used below, unless the context otherwise requires, the terms "the Company," "Genie," "we," "us," and "our" refer to Genie Energy 
Ltd., a Delaware corporation, and its subsidiaries, collectively. 

Forward-Looking Statements 

This Quarterly Report on Fonn 10-Q contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 27A ofthe Securities Act of 
1933 and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including statemenis that contain the words "believes," "anticipates," "expects," 
"plans," "intends," and similar words and phrases. These forward-looking statements are subjecl lo risks and uncertainties that could cause 
actual results to differ materially from the results projected in any forward-looking statement. In addition to the factors specifically noted in the 
forward-looking statements, other irnportanl factors, risks and uncertainties that could result in those differences include, but are not limited lo, 
those discussed under Item IA to Parti "Risk Factors" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012. The 
forward-looking statements are made as of the date of this report and we assume no obligation to update the forward-looking statements, or to 
update the reasons why actual results could differ from those projected in the forward-looking statemenis. Investors should consult alt of the 
information set forth in this report and the other informalion set forth from time lo time in our reports filed with the SEC pursuant lo the 
Securities Act of 1933 and the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, including our Annual Reporl on Form 10-K for die year ended December 31, 
2012. 

Overview 

We own 99.3% of our subsidiary. Genie Energy International Corporation, or GEIC, which owns 100% of IDT Energy and 92% of Genie 
Oil and Gas, Inc., or GOGAS. IDT Energy has outstanding deferred stock units granted to directors and employees that represent an interest of 
2.3% of the equity of IDT Energy. Our principal businesses consist of the following: 

• IDT Energy, a retail energy provider, or REP, supplying electricity and natural gas to residential and small business customers in the 
Northeastern United States ; and 

• Genie Oil and Gas, which is pioneering technologies to produce clean and affordable transportation fuels from the world's abundant 
oil shales and olher fuel re-SOurces , which consists of (1) American Shale Oil Corporation, or AMSO, which holds and manages a 
50% interest in American Shale Oil, L.L.C., or AMSO, LLC, our oil shale project in Colorado, (2) an 88.6% interest in Israel Energy 
Initiatives, Ltd., or lEI, our oil shale project in Israel, (3) an 89% interest in Afek Oil and Gas, Ltd. (formeriy Genie Israel Oil and 
Gas, Ltd.), or Afek, our conventional oil and gas exploration project in the soulhem portion of the Golan Heights, and (4) Genie 
Mongolia, our oil shale exploration project in Cential Mongolia. 

As part of our ongoing business development efforts, we continuously seek out new opportunities, which may include complementary 
operations or businesses that reflect horizontal or vertical expansion from our current operations. Some of these potential opportunities are 
considered briefly and others are examined in further depth. In particular, we seek out acquisitions to expand the geographic scope and size of 
our REP business, and additional energy exploration projects to diversify our GOGAS unit's operations, among geographies, technologies and 
resources. 

We were formerly a subsidiary of IDT Corporation, or IDT. On October 28, 2011, we were spun-off by IDT and became an independent 
public company through a pro rata distiibution of our common stock to IDT's stockholders (the Spin-Off). 

We entered into various agreements with IDT prior lo the Spin-Off including a Separation and Distribution Agreement to effect the 
separation and provide a framework for our relationship with IDT after the Spin-Off , and a Transhion Services Agreement, which provides for 
certain services to be performed by us and IDT to facilitate our transition into a separate publicly-traded company. These agreements provide 
fbr, among other things, (1) the allocation between us and IDT of employee benefits, taxes and olher liabilities and obhgalions attributable lo 
periods prior to the Spin-Off, (2) transitional services to be provided by IDT relating to human resources and employee benefits 
administration, (3) the allocation of responsibilities relating to employee compensation and benefit plans and programs and other related 
matters, (4) finance, accounting, tax, intemal audit, facilities, investor relations and legal services to be provided by IDT to us following the 
Spin-Off and (5) specified administrative services to be provided by us to certain of IDT's foreign subsidiaries. In addition, we entered into a 
Tax Separation Agreement with IDT, which sets forth the responsibilities of us and IDT with respect lo, among olher things, liabilities for 
federal, slate, local and foreign taxes for periods before and including the Spin-Off, die preparation and filing of tax returns for such periods 
and disputes with taxing authorities regarding taxes for such periods. 



IDT Energy 

Seasonality and Weather 

IDT Energy's revenues are impacted by, among other things, the wealher and the seasons. Wealher conditions have a significant impact 
on the demand for natural gas for heating and electricity for air conditioning. Typically, colder winters and hotter summers increase demand for 
natural gas and electricity, respectively. Milder winters and/or summers have the opposite effect. Natural gas revenues typically increase in the 
first quarter due to increased heating demands and electricity revenues typically increase in the third quarter due to increased air conditioning 
use. Approximately 47% and 50% of IDT Energy's natural gas revenues were generated in the first quarter of 2012 and 2011, respectively, 
when demand for heating was highest. Although the demand for electiicity is not as seasonal as natural gas, approximately 34% and 35% of 
IDT Energy's electricity revenues were generated in the third quarter of 2012 and 2011. respectively. As a resull, our revenues and operating 
income are subject lo malerial seasonal variations, and the interim financial results are nol necessarily indicative of the eslimaled financials 
results for the full year. 

Concentration of Customers and Associated Credit Ri.flc 

IDT Energy reduces its customer credit risk by participating in purchase of receivable, or POR, programs for a significant portion of its 
receivables. For receivables included in POR programs, utility companies provide billing and collection services, purchase IDT Energy's 
receivables and assume all credit risk without recourse lo IDT Energy. IDT Energy's primary credh risk is therefore nonpayment by the utility 
companies. Certain of the utility companies represent significant portions of our consolidated revenues and consolidated gross trade accounts 
receivable balance and such concentrations increase our risk associated with nonpayment by those utiiily companies. 

The following table summarizes the percentage of consohdated revenues from customers by utiiily company that equal or exceed 10% of 
our consolidated revenues in the period (no other single utiiily company accounted for more than 10% of our consolidated revenues in these 
periods): 

Nine Months Ended 
September 

2013 
26% 
11% 
10% 
10% 

30, 
2012 

38.6% 
na 
na 
na 

Con Edison 
West Penn Power 
Penelec 
National Grid USA 

na-less than 10% of consolidated revenue in the period 

The following table summarizes the percentage of consolidated gross trade accounts receivable by utility company that equal or exceed 
10% of consolidated gross trade accounts receivable al September 30,2013 andDecember 31, 2012: 

September December 
30,2013 31,2012 

Con Edison 25% 19% 
West Penn Power 11% na 
Penelec na 10% 

na-less than 10% of consolidated gross trade accounts receivable 

Investment in American Shale Oil, LLC 

AMSO, LLC holds a research, deveiopmeni and demonstration lease awarded by the U.S. Bureau of Land Management that covers an 
area of 160 acres in western Colorado (the RD&D Lease). The RD&D Lease runs for a ten-year period beginning on January 1,2007, and is 
subject lo an extension of up to five years if AMSO, LLC can demonstrate that a process leading to the production of commercial quantities of 
shale oil is diligently being pursued. If AMSO, LLC can demonstrate die economic and environmental viability of its technology, it will have 
the opportunhy to submit a one-time payment pursuant to the applicable regulations and convert its RD&D Lease to a commercial lease on 
5.120 acres which overiap and are condguous with the 160 acres covered by its RD&D Lease. 

We account for our 50% ownership interest in AMSO, LLC using the equity method since we have the abitity to exercise significant 
influence over its operating and financial matters, although we do not contiol AMSO, LLC. AMSO, LLC is a variable interest entity, however, 
we have determined that we tire not the primary beneficiary. 
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AMSO has agreed to fund AMSO, LLC's expenditijres as follows; 20% ofthe initial $50 million of expenditures, 35% of the next $50 
million in approved expenditures and 50% of approved expenditures in excess of $100 million. AMSO has also agreed to fund 40% ofthe costs 
of the one-time payment for conversion of AMSO, LLC's RD&D Lease to a commercial lease, in the event AMSO, LLC's application for 
conversion is approved. The remaining amounts are lobe funded by Total S.A., or Total. As of September 30, 2013, the cumulative 
contributions of AMSO and Total to AMSO, LLC were $68.0 million. AMSO's allocated share of the net loss of AMSO, LLC, which is 
currentiy 35%, is included in "Equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC" in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. 

AMSO's share of AMSO. LLC's approved budget for the year ending December 31,2013 is $4.2 million, although we currently 
anticipate that total expenditures for 2013 will be below budget, Al September 30, 2013, AMSO had funded $2.3 million of its share ofthe 
2013 budget. In October 2013, AMSO contributed S0.4 million to AMSO, LLC, and we anticipate diat AMSO's total contributions for 2013 
will not exceed $2.7 milhon. AMSO is obligated to fund its share of the expenditures it approves in accordance with the agreement between the 
parties. 

Either Total or AMSO may terminate its obligations to make capital contributions and withdraw as a member of AMSO, LLC. Although, 
subject lo certain exceptions, AMSO and Total are nol obligated to make additional contributions beyond their respective shares, they could 
dilute or forfeit their ownership interests in AMSO, LLC if they fail to contribute their respective shares of additional funding. The agreements 
with Total provide for varying consequences for AMSO's failure to fund its share al different stages ofthe project, including dilution of 
AMSO's interest in AMSO, LLC or paying interest to Total for expenditures they fund on behalf of AMSO. Additionally, even if AMSO were 
to withdraw its interest in AMSO, LLC, it will remain liable for its share of expenditures for safety and environmental reclamation related to 
events occurring prior toils withdrawal. AMSO is evaluating its options with respect to funding AMSO, LLC during 2014, and funding of less 
than its full share would resull in dilution of its interest in AMSO, LLC. 

Al September 30,2013, our maximum exposure to additional loss as a resull of our required investment in AMSO, LLC was SI.9 
million, based on AMSO, LLC's 2013 budget. Our maximum exposure to additional loss could increase based on the situations described 
above. The maximum exposure al September 30,2013 was determined as follows: 

(in millions) 
AMSO's committed inveshnenl in AMSO, LLC based on the 2013 budget $ 4.2 
Less: cumulative capital contributions to AMSO, LLC (2.3) 
Maximum exposure to additional loss $ 1.9 

Israel Energy Initiatives, Ltd. 

lEI holds an exclusive Shale Oil Exploration and Production License awarded in July 2008 by the Governmentof Israel. The license 
covers approximately 238 square kilometers in the south of the Shfela region in Israel. Under the terms of the license, lEI is to conduct a 
geological appraisal study across the license area, characterize the resource and select a location for a pilot plant in which h will demonstrate its 
in-situ technology. The initial term ofthe license was for three years until July 2011. The license has been extended until July 2014, and it may 
be further extended for one year through July 2015. In June 2013, lEI submitted its application for the construction and operation of its oil 
shale pilot test facility to the Jerusalem District Building and Planning Committee, During the three months ended September 30,2013, lEI was 
asked lo submit additional information for its application. The revised application was submitted on November 3,2013. The permit evaluation 
process is expected to take at least nine monlhs from acceptance of a completed proposal by the Planning Committee and iMtentially 
significantly longer. We currentiy expect to use internal resources to finance the pilot test construction and operations. In addition, we are 
considering financing lEI's operations through partnerships and/or sales of equity interests. 

Afek Oil and Gas, Ltd, 

In April 2013, the Govemment of Israel finalized the award to Afek of an exclusive three year pelroleum exploration license covering 
396-5 square kilometers in the soulhem portion of the Golan Heights. Afek has retained seasoned oil and gas exploration professionals and has 
initiated discussions with vendors lo conduct the next steps in the exploration project. During the three months ended September 30, 2013 , 
Afek conducted preliminary geo-physical work including electromagnetic tests and seismic analysis to characterize the subsurface prior to 
drilling exploration wells. The exploration drilling program is scheduled lo begin as eariy as the first half of 2014. 

Genie Mongoha 

In April 2013, Genie Mongolia and the Petroleum Aulhority of Mongolia entered inlo an exclusive oil shale development agreement to 
explore and evaluate the commercial polential of oil shale resources in a 34,470 square kilometer area in Central Mongolia. The five year 
agreement allows Genie Mongolia to explore, identify and characterize the oil shale resource in the exclusive survey area and to conduct a pilot 
test using in-situ technology on appropriate oil shale deposits. To dale. Genie Mongolia is the only recipient of an exclusive oil shale survey 
conlract in Mongolia. 
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Critical Accounting PoUcies 

Our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted 
in the United States of America, or U.S. GAAP. Our significant accounting policies are described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial 
statements included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,2012. The preparation of financial statements 
requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses as well as 
the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Critical accounting policies are those that require application of management's most 
subjective or complex judgments, often as a resull of matters that are inherently uncertain and may change in subsequent periods. Our critical 
accounting policies include those related to the allowance for doubtful accounts, goodwill and income taxes. Management bases its estimates 
and judgments on historical experience and other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results may differ 
from these estimates under different assumptions or conditions. For additional discussion of our critical accounting policies, see our 
Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations in our Annual Reporl on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31,2012. 

Results of Operations 

We evaluate theperformanceof our operating business segments based primarily on income (loss) from operations. Accordingly, the 
income and expense line items below income (loss) from operations are only included in our discussion of the consol idated results of 
operations. 

Three and Nine Months Ended September 30,2013 Compared to Three and Nine Months Ended September 30,2012 

IDT Energy Segment 

Revenues: 
Electricity 
Natural gas 

Total revenues 
Direct cost of revenues 

Gross profit 
Selling, general and 

administrative 
expenses 

Income from operations 

$ 
_ 

i. 

Three months ended 
September 

2013 

66.9 
4.7 

71.6 
51.7 
19.9 

10.3 
9JS 

S 

— 

§_ 

30, 
2012 

59.0 
4.7 

63.7 
423 
21.4 

12.7 
87 

$ 

$ 

Change 

$ 

7.9 
— 

7.9 
9.4 

(1.5) 

(2.4) 
0.9 

% 
(in mill 

13.4% 
(0.1) 
12.4 
223 
(7.0) 

(19.0) 
10.6% 

Nine months ended 
September 

2013 
lions) 

$ 

— 

I_ 

166.6 
45.5 

212.1 
163,2 
48.9 

29.9 
19.0 

— 

S 

— 

I_ 

30, 
2012 

126.1 
37.9 

164.0 
112.9 
51.1 

34,0 
17,1 

$ 

$ 

Change 
$ 

40.5 
7.6 

48.1 
503 
(2.2) 

(4.1) 
1.9 

% 

32.1% 
19,9 
293 
44.5 
(43) 

(11.9) 
10.9% 

Revenues . IDT Energy's electricity revenues increased in Ihe three months ended September 30, 2013 compared to the same period in 
2012 as a result of an increase in the average rate charged to customers, as consumption was substantially unchanged and average meters 
enrolled decreased. The average rate charged to customers for electricity increased 12.6% in the three monlhs ended September 30, 2013 
compared to the same period in 2012 primarily due to an increase in the underlying commodity cost. Electricity consumption increased 0.8% in 
the three months ended September 30,2013 compared to the same period in 2012, and average meters enrolled decreased 5.6% in the three 
months ended September 30,2013 compared to the same period in 2012. Average consumption per meter increased 6.7% in the three months 
ended September 30,2013 compared lo the same period in 2012, which was attributable to the acquisilion of relatively higher consuming 
meters in Pennsylvania and Maryland, as compared lo the melen in our legacy customer base. 

IDT Energy's electricity revenues increased in the nine months ended September 30,2013 compared lo the same period in 2012 as a 
result of an increase in consumption, as well as an increase in the average rate charged to customers. Electricity consumption increased 24.3% 
in the nine months ended September 30,2013 compared lo the same period in 2012, and the average rate charged to customers for electricity 
increased 6.3% in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 compared to the same period in 2012. The increase in electricity consumption 
was primarily the resull of an increase in average meters enrolled, which increased 5.8% in the nine months ended September 30,2013 
compared to the same period in 2012, coupled with an increase in average consumption per meter, which increased 17.4% in the nine monlhs 
ended September 30, 2013 compared lo the same period in 2012. The increase in the average rate charged to customers for electricity was due 
lo an increase in the underlying commodity cost. The increase in the average consumption per meter is attributable to the acquisition of 
relatively higher consuming meters in Pennsylvania and Maryland, as compared to the meters in our legacy customer base. 
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IDT Energy's natural gas revenues were substantially unchanged in the three months ended September 30,2013 compared to the same 
period in 2012 as a resuh of an increase in the average rate charged to customers offset by decreases in consumption and average meters 
enrolled. In the three monlhs ended September30,2013 compared lo the same period in 2012, the average rate charged to customers for natural 
gas increased 8.1%, natural gas consumption decreased 7.7% and average meters enrolled decreased 12,2%. 

IDT Energy's nalural gas revenues increased in the nine months ended September 30,2013 compared lo the same period in 2012 
primarily due to unusually warm weather in the three months ended March 31, 2012 which reduced the demand for natural gas for heating. As 
measured by heating degree days, a measure of outside air temperature designed to reflect the energy required for healing. New York Slate and 
Penn.sy!vania were 25% colder in the three monlhs ended March 31.2013 than in the same period in 2012. The colder weather resulted in an 
increase of 5.0% in nalural gas consumption in the nine months ended September 30,2013 compared to the same period in 2012, and an 
increase of 14.3% in consumption per meter in the nine monlhs ended September 30,2013 compared lo the same period in 2012, In addition, 
natural gas revenues increased due to a 14.2% increase in the average rate charged lo customers in the nine months ended September 30,2013 
compared to the same period in 2012, The increase in consumption was partially offset by an 8.1% decrease in average meters enrolled in the 
nine months ended September 30, 2013 compared to the same period in 2012. 

IDT Energy's customer base as measured by meters enrolled consisted of the following: 

September 
30, 

2013 

300 
156 
456 

June 30, 
2013 

314 
161 
475 

March 31, 
2013 

(in thousands) 

319 
166 
485 

December 
31, 

2012 

331 
171 
502 

September 
30, 
2012 

343 
180 
523 

Meters al end of quarter: 
Electric customers 
Natural gas customers 

Total meters 

Gross meter acquisitions in the three and nine months ended September 30,2013 were 64,000 and 200,000, respectively, compared to 
118,000 and 324,000 in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012, respectively. The decreases in gross meter acquisitions primarily 
reflect a reduced rale of expansion into new territories in recenl quarters. Net meters enrolled decreased by 19,000 or 3.8% in the three months 
ended September 30, 2013 compared lo an increase of 28,000 meters or 5.7% in the three monlhs ended September 30,2012, and decreased by 
46,000 meters or 9.1% in the nine months ended September 30,2013 compared lo an increase of 86,000 meters or 19.5% in the nine months 
ended September 30, 2012, as gross meter acquisitions in the three and nine months ended September 30,2013 were more than offset by 
customer chum. Average monthly chum decreased from 6.6% in the three and nine monlhs ended September 30, 2012 to 6.3% in the three and 
nine months ended September 30, 2013, primarily due to the lower level of customer acquisitions in 2013, as newly acquired customers have 
higher chum rates than longer temi customers. Increased competition in some of IDT Energy's key utiiily markets also contributed to the level 
of customer chum. 

IDT Energy has license applications pending to enter into additional territories, primarily gas and dual meter territories, in Pennsylvania, 
Maryland and the District of Columbia. Management continues to evaluate additional, deregulation-driven opportunities in olher states, 
including Massachusetts and Connecticut. New customer acquisitions in the Commonwealth Edison territory in lUinois, which IDT Energy 
entered during the three monlhs ended June 30,2013, were not impactful. IDT Energy continues lo test and evaluate this market. 

The average rates of annualized energy consumption, as measured by residential customer equivalents, or RCEs, are presented in the 
chart below. An RCE represents a nalural gas customer with annual consumption of 100 mmblu or an electricity customer with annual 
consumption of 10 MWh. Because different customers have different rales of energy consumption, RCEs are an industry standard metric for 
evaluating the consumption profile of a given retail customer base. The 4.8% RCE increase at September 30, 2013 compared lo September 30, 
2012 reflects primarily the shift in IDT Energy's electricity customer base to customers in Pennsylvania and Maryland with higher 
consumption per meter compared to New York. The increase in RCEs at September 30,2013 compared to September 30,2012 also reflects the 
consumption increases associated with the more normal winter weather in the three months ended March 31, 2013 compared to the warmer 
than normal weather in the three months ended March 31,2012. 
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September 
30, 

2013 

246 
91 

337 

June 30, 
2013 

263 
94 

357 

March 31, 
2013 

(in thousands) 

243 
86 

329 

December 
31, 

2012 

238 
74 

312 

September 
30, 

2012 

235 
87 

322 

RCEs at end of quarter: 
Electric customers 
Nalural gas customers 

Total RCEs 

Direct Cost of Revenues and Gross Margin Percentage . IDT Energy's direct cost of revenues and gross margin percentage were as 
follows: 

Direct cost of revenues: 
Electricity $ 
Natural gas 

Total direct cost of revenues $ 

Gross margin percentage: 
Electricity 
Natural gas 

Total gross margin percentage 

Three months ended 
September 30, 

2013 

4 8 ^ 
3 2 

51.7 

— 

2012 

$ 39.3 
3.0 

$ 42.3 

Thr 
( 

2013 

2 7 ^ % 
32.0 
27.8% 

Change 
$ 

S 9.2 
0.2 

S 9.4 

ee months ended 
Jeptember 30, 

— 

2012 

33.5% 
36.0 
33.6% 

Nine months ended 
September 30, 

% : 
(in millions 

23.5%o $ 
6.1 

22.3%c $ 

Change 

(6.0)% 
(4.0) 
(5.8)% 

S013 

) 

13T.1 
32.1 

163.2 

$ 

r 

2013 

2012 

85.3 
27.6 

112.9 

Nine mi 
Septt 

2 1 3 % 
29.5 
23.1% 

Change 

$ 

$ 45.8 
4.5 

$ 50.3 

onths ended 
;mber 30, 
2012 

32.3% 
27.2 
31.2% 

Cha 

% 

53.7% 
16.2 
44.5% 

nge 

(11.0) %« 
2.3 

(8.1)% 

Direct cost of revenues for electricity increased in the three and nine months ended September 30,2013 compared to the same periods in 
2012 primarily because the average unit cost of electricity increased 22.6% and 23.6% in the three and nine months ended September 30,2013, 
respectively,compared to the same periods in 2012.Thecost of electricity was unusually low in the three monlhs ended September 30,2012, 
which is reflected in these percentage increases. In addition, the cost of electricity increased in May and June 2013 compared to the same 
period in 2012, and the cost of electricity in New York State was unusually high in January and February 2013 compared to the same period in 
2012. The 24.3% increase in electricity consumption in the nine months ended September 30,2013 compared to the same period in 2012 also 
contributed to the increase in direct cost of revenues for electricity. 

Direct cost of revenues for natural gas increased in the three months ended September 30.2013 compared to the same period in 2012 
primarily due to the 14.8% increase in the average unit cost of natural gas since natural gas consumption decreased 1.7%. Direct cost of 
revenues for natural gas increased in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 compared to the same period in 2012 due to the 10.6% 
increase in the average unit cost of natural gas and a 5.0% increase in consumption. 

Gross margin on electricity sales decreased in the three and nine monlhs ended September 30,2013 compared to the same periods in 
2012 primarily due to the mix of meters enrolled and market conditions. The gross margin on electricity sales was also negatively impacted in 
the nine monlhs ended September 30, 2013 compared to the same period in 2012 by increased promotional activity implemented lo mitigate 
chum and facilitate customer acquisition, and the effects of an inlernai pricing system issue that constrained our ability to make timely 
adjustments to electric rates in some newer territories. 

Gross margins on natural gas sales decreased in the three montiis ended September 30,2013 compared lo the same period in 2012 as the 
cost of the underlying commodity increased while gross profil per unit remained relatively flat, which had a negative impact on gross margin. 
Gross margins on natural gas sales increased in the nine monlhs ended September 30, 2013 compared to the same period in 2012 because 
increased natural gas consumption due to the colder temperatures in the three monlhs ended March 31,2013 compared lo the same period in 
2012 enabled us lo recover costs more effectively in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 compared to the same period in 2012. 

Selling, General and Administrative .The decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses in the three and nine months ended 
September 30,2013 compared to the same periods in 2012 was primarily due to decreases in customer acquisition costs, severance expense and 
stock-based compensation expense. Customer acquisition costs decreased an aggregate of $1,3 million and $3.4 million in the three and nine 
monlhs ended September 30,2013, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2012 primarily due to the significant decrease in the number 
of new customers acquired in the 2013 periods compared to 2012. Severance expense decreased $0.1 million and $0.4 million in the three and 
nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2012. The $0.1 million and $0.2 million decreases in 
stock-based compensation expense in the three and nine months ended September 30.2013, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2012 
were primarily due lo reductions in expense from the November 2011 granls of restricted stock and stock options. The expense from these 
granls is recognized over the expected service period. In the nine months ended September 30, 2013 compared lo the same period in 2012, the 
decrease in selling, general and administrative expenses was partially offset by an aggregate $0.4 million increase in billing and purchase of 



receivable fees, primarily as a result of the increase in IDT Energy's revenues. As a percentage of IDT Energy's total revenues, selling, 
general and administrative expenses decreased from 20.0% and 20.7% in the three and nine months ended September 30,2012, respectively, to 
14.4% and 14.1% in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013, respectively, primarily because ofthe significant decrease in costs 
related lo customer acquisitions as well as the increase in revenues. 
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Genie Oil and Gas Segment 

Genie Oil and Gas does not currently generate any revenues, nor does it incur any direct cost of revenues. 

General and administrative 
expenses $ 
Research and development 
Equity in net loss of AMSO, 
LLC _ 
Loss from operations $ 

Three months ended 
September 30, 

2013 

0 3 S 
2.7 

0.7 
(3.7) $ 

2012 

0,4 $ 
2 3 

0.5 
(3.2)$ 

Change 

$ 

(0.1) 
0.4 

0.2 
(0.5) 

% 

Nine months ended 
September 30, 

2013 
(in millions) 

(6.1)% $ 1.2 $ 
17.2 7.7 

32.2 2.6 
(16.6)% $ (11.5) $ 

2012 

0.8 S 
7.1 

23 
(10.2) S 

Change 

S 

0.4 
0.6 

0 3 
(1.3) 

503% 
83 

15.8 
(13.2)9i 

General and Administrative . General and administrative expenses decreased in the three months ended September 30, 2013 compared to 
the same period in 2012 primarily due to decreases in consulling and professional fees, partially offset by an increase in stock-based 
compensation expense. General and administrative expenses increased in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 compared to the same 
period in 2012 primarily due to an increase in slock-based compensation expense. Stock-based compensation expense increased $0,2 million 
and $0.4 million in the three and nine months ended September 30,2013, respectively, compared to the same periods in 2012. In May 2013, we 
granted an aggregate of 1.0% of the equity in lEI to certain of our employees. The grants vested immediately on the date of the grant. The fair 
value on the date of the grant was estimated to be $0.2 million, which was recognized in May 2013. 

Research and Development. Research and development expenses consist of the following: 

$ 

$ 

Three months ended 
September 30, 

2013 

0.8 
0.8 
1.1 
— 

2.7 

2012 

Nine months ended 
September 

2013 
(in millions) 

$ 1.7 $ 
0.6 
— 
— 

$ 2 3 $ 

2.9 
2.5 
2.2 
0.1 
7.7 

$ 

$ 

30, 
2012 

5.6 
1.5 
.— 
— 

7.1 

lEI 
Genie Mongolia 
Afek 
Other 
Total research and development expenses 

In June 2013, lEI submitted its application for the construction and operation of its oil shale pilot test facility to the Jerusalem District 
Building and Planning Committee. During the three months ended September 30,2013, lEl was asked lo submit additional information for its 
application. The revised application was submitted on November 3,2013, The permit evaluation process is expected lo take at least nine 
months from acceptance of a completed proposal by the Planning Committee and potentially significantiy longer. During the nine months 
ended September 30, 2013 and the year ended December 31, 2012, lEI continued laboratory work, engineering work and associated preparation 
of environmental permit apphcations related to the planned pilot, as per the required permitting process. 

The increase in Genie Mongolia's expenses in the three and nine monlhs ended September 30,2013 compared lo the same periods in 
2012 related to Ihe joint geological survey with the Republic of Mongolia, which was executed in April 2013, to explore certain of that 
country's oil shale deposits. Genie Mongolia has begun surface mapping and other geophysical evaluation work as well as drilling exploratory 
wells, and has secured permits for additional exploratory wells. The exploratory well program is intended to identify a site suitable for a pilot 
test. Subsequent commercial operations are contingent upon implementation of a regulatory framework by the government for the permitting 
and licensing of commercial oil shale operations. 
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After receiving the award of a 36-month petroleum exploration license in the Soulhem portion of the Golan Heights in April 2013, Afek 
has been stafiing up for operations, contracting with international service providers to assist in exploration activities, and preparing permit 
applications for a ten-well exploration program to further characterize the resource in its license area. During the three months ended 
September 30, 2013, Afek conducted preliminary geo-physical work including electromagnetic tests and seismic analysis to characteri7.e the 
subsurface prior to drilling exploration wells. Partial and preliminary results from these tests are consistent with our view that there is a 
potentially attractive oil and gas resource in the license area. The exploration drilling program is scheduled to begin as early as the first half of 
2014. 

Equity in the Net Loss of AMSO, LLC. In early March 2013, AMSO, LLC initialed start-up of its oil shale pilot test. The pilot test is 
intended to confirm ihe accuracy of several of the key underiying assumptions of AMSO, LLC's proposed in-situ heating and retorting process. 
After approximately two weeks of operation, the down-hole eleclric heater failed. Pilot operations were too short to allow conclusions to be 
drawn about the ultimate viability of AMSO, LLC's technical approach. AMSO, LLC subsequently decided not to attempt to re-engineer the 
current downhole electrical heating syslem. Instead, it has initiated a comprehensive review of alternative heating system solutions. AMSO, 
LLC intends lo qualify, design, engineer, build and thoroughly test the heating solution offering the best prospects for reliable pilot lest 
operation^. A key objective of the deveiopmeni process is lo significantly de-risk Ihe pilot operations before healer installation, In addition, this 
alternative heating system quahfication process may result in development of a solution applicable to subsequent phases of the research, 
development and demonstration project's operations. Il is expected that the heater development process will continue into, and possibly 
through, 2014. Equipment modifications and technical issues are common in projecls ofthe complexity and scope ofthe AMSO, LLC pilot 
test, particularly given the extent to which new concepts and applications have been incorporated into the pilot test's design. Upon successful 
completion of the pilot lest, AMSO, LLC will evaluate the appropriate timing to submit an application lo convert its research, development and 
demonstration lease into a commercial lease. AMSO, LLC also expects to design and implement a larger scale demonstration project to further 
lest hs process and operations under commercial conditions, and assess scalability to commercial production levels. 

AMSO's equity in the net loss of AMSO, LLC increased in the three and nine months ended September 30,2013 compared to the same 
periods in 2012 due to increases in AMSO. LLC's net loss lo $1.9 million and S7.4 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 
2013 from $1.5 million andS6.4 million in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2012. AMSO, LLC's net loss increased due to the 
costs associated with the process to develop a replacement heater as well as the start-up of the pilot test earlier in the year. During the three 
monlhs ended September 30,2013, AMSO, LLC launched a series of diagnostic tests to analyze the status of its pilot test's down-hole heating 
and production well system. AMSO, LLC is seeking to ascertain how the passage of time and limited pilot test operations conducted in 2012 
and 2013, including down-hole healing, have impacted the well system's condition and whether modifications to the pilot test's operational 
plans will be required. 

Corporate 

Corporate does not generate any revenues, nor does it incur any direct cost of revenues. Corporate costs include unallocated 
compensation, consulting fees, legal fees, business development expenses and other corporate-related general and administrative expenses. 

General aiid 
adminishative 
expenses and loss 
from operations 

Three months ended 
September 30, 

2013 2012 

1.9 2.0 S 

Change 
% 

(0,1) 

Nine months ended 
September 30, 

2013 2012 
(in millions) 

(4.4)%^ $ 6.5 S 5.8 S 

Change 
% 

0.7 11.6% 

The decrease in general and administrative expenses in the three months ended September 30,2013 as compared lo the same period in 
2012 was due primarily lo decreases in legal fees and Board of Directors' compensation, partially offset by an increase in charitable 
contributions. The increase in general and administrative expenses in the nine monlhs ended September 30, 2013 as compared to the same 
period in 2012 was due primarily lo increases in charitable contributions and stock-based compensation, partially offset by decreases in payroll 
and related expenses. 

Con.wlidated 

Selling, General and Administrative . IDT charges us for services it provides pursuant to the Transition Services Agreement. In the three 
months ended September 30,2013 and 2012, IDT charged us $0.9 million and $1.0 million, respectively, and in the nine months ended 
September 30,2013 and 2012, IDT charged us $2.4 million and $2.5 million, respectively, which was included in consolidated selling, general 
and administrative expense. 
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Stock-based compensation expense included in consolidated selling, general and administrative expenses was $1.1 million and $3.2 
million in the three and nine months ended September 30,2013, respectively, compared to SI .0 million and $2,6 million in the same periods in 
2012. The increases are primarily due lo expense from the March 2012 grants of equity interests in certainof our subsidiaries and the May 
2013 grant of equity in lEl, partially offset by a decrease in expense from the November 2011 grants of restricted slock and stock options. The 
expense from the.se grants is recognized over the expected service period. 

At September 30,2013, aggregate unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested stock-based compensation was $4.9 million, 
which is expected to be recognized as follows: S3.0 million in the twelve months ending September 30,2014, $1.4 million in the twelve 
monlhs ending September 30,2015 and the remaining SO.5 million from October 2015 through November 2019. 

The following is a discussion of our consolidated income and expense line items below income from operations: 

Change 

Income from operations 
Interest income 
Financing fees 
Other expense, nel 
Provision for income 

taxes 
Net income (loss) 
Net income attributable to 

noncontrolling interests 
Net income (loss) 

attributable to Genie 

— 

$ 

-

1 
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(0.7) 
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(262.1) 
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0.5 
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nm—not meaningful 

Financing Fees. Financing fees are the volumetric fees charged by BP Energy Company under the Preferred Supplier Agreement 
between IDT Energy and BP, pursuant to which BP is IDT Energy's preferred provider of electricity and nalural gas. Financing fees were 
substantially unchanged in the three months ended September 30,2013 compared to the simitar period in 2012 as a result of increased 
consumption by IDT Energy's customers, which was partially offset by a lower fee per unit. Financing fees increased in the nine months ended 
September 30,2013 compiiredto the simiUu: period in 2012 primarily because ofthe higher consumption by IDT Energy's customers. 

Other Expense, net. The change in other expense, nel was primarily due to the change in foreign currency Iranslation loss. 

Provision for Income Taxes . The decrease in the provision for income taxes in the three and nine months ended September 30, 2013 
compared to the same periods in 2012 was primarily due to the establishment of a valuation allowance on our deferred income tax assets in a 
prior period, which was partially offset by an audit settiement. We currently do not recognize lax benefits on GOGAS's losses in excess of IDT 
Energy's income. 

Net Income Attributable to Noncontrolling Interests. The decrease in the net income attributable lo noncontrolling interests in the three 
and nine months ended September 30,2013 compared to the similar periods in 2012 primarily relates lo 100% ofthe net income incurred by 
Citizen's Choice Energy, LLC, or CCE. which is a variable interest entity that is consolidated within our IDT Energy segment. We do not have 
any ownership interest in CCE, therefore, all net income incurred by CCE has been attiibuted to noncontiolling interests. CCE's nel income in 
the three and nine months ended September 30,2013 was $0.7 million and $2.4 million, respectively, compared to $1.9 million and S2.8 
million in the three and nine months ended September 30,2012, respectively. CCE's net income decreased in the three and nine monlhs ended 
September 30,2013 comptued to the same periods in 2012 primarily due lo a reduction in gross profit and increases in management fees and 
income tax expense, partially offset by a decrease in customer acquisition costs. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

General 

Historically, we havi? satisfied our cash requirements primarily through a combination of our existing cash and cash equivalents and IDT 
Energy's cash flow from operating activities. We currently expect that our operations in the next twelve months and the $88.1 million balance 
of cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash—short-term, certificates of deposit and marketable securities that we held as of September 30,2013 
will be sufficient to meet our currentiy anticipated cash lequirementa for at least the twelve months ending September 30,2014. 

26 

http://the.se


As of September 30,2013, we had working capital (currenl assets less current liabilities) of $106.0 million. 

Nine months ended 
September 30, 

2013 2012 
(in millions) 

Cash flows (used in) provided by: 
Operating activities $ (0.7) S 1-1 
Investing activhies 3.9 (17.5) 
Financing activities (1.0) (14.3) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 0 2 ^ 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 2 4 S (30.7) 

Operating Activities 

Our cash flow from operations varies significantly from quarter to quarter and from year to year, depending on our operating results and 
the timing of operating cash receipts and payments, specifically tiade accounts receivable and trade accounts payable, including payments 
relating lo our research iind deveiopmeni activities. 

CCE, DAD Sales, LLC, or DAD, and Tari Corporation, or Tari, are consolidated variable interest entities. We determined that we have 
the power to direct the activities of CCE, DAD and Tari that most significantly impact their economic performance, and we have the obligation 
to absorb losses of CCE, DAD and Tari that could potentially be significant to CCE, DAD and Tari on a stand-alone basis. We therefore 
determined that we are the primary beneficiary of CCE, DAD and Tari, and as a result, we consolidate CCE, DAD and Tari within our IDT 
Energy segment. We provided CCE, DAD and Tari with all of the cash required to fund their operations. In the nine monlhs ended September 
30, 2013and 2012, CCE, DAD and Tari repaid $3.8 million and $0.6 million, respectively, to us. 

Since 2009, IDT Energy has been party to a Preferred Suppher Agreement with BP, pursuant to which BP is IDT Energy's preferred 
provider of electricity and natural gas. The agreement's termination date is June 30,2014, which automatically renews for an additional year 
unless either party provides written notice to the other party at least six months prior lo June 30,2014 that it will nol renew the agreement. 
Under the arrangement, IDT Energy purchases electricity and nalural gas at markel rate plus a fee. IDT Energy's obligations to BP are secured 
by a first security interest in deposits or receivables from utilities in connection with their purchase of IDT Energy's customer's receivables, 
and in any cash deposits or letters of credit posted in connection with any collateral accounts with BP. IDT Energy's ability to purchase 
electricity and natural gEis under this agreement is subject to satisfaction of certain conditions including the maintenance of certain covenants. 
At September 30,2013, we were in compliance with such covenants, Asof September 30, 2013, restricted cash of $0,4 million and tiade 
accounts receivable of S37.7 million were pledged to BP as collateral for the payment of IDT Energy's trade accounts payable to BP of $13.8 
million as of September 30,2013. 

In July 2013, IDT Energy negotiated a settlement of an audit of its New York State sales and use tax for the period from June 2003 
through August 2009. As a result, IDT Energy paid $0,9 million in July 2013, all of which was accrued at June 30,2013. We are subject to 
audits in various jurisdictions for various taxes. At September 30,2013, we accrued for the estimated losses from audits for which it is probable 
that a liability has been incurred. At September 30, 2013, our reasonably possible liability above the amount accrued was zero to $0.3 million. 
Amounts asserted by taxing authorities or the amount ultimately assessed against us could be greater than the accrued amount. Accordingly, 
additional provisions may be recorded in the future as revised estimates are made or underlying matters are setded or resolved. Imposition of 
assessments as a result of tax audits could have an adverse effect on our results of operations, cash flows and financial condition. 

Investing Activities 

Our capilal expenditures were SO.3 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 compared to $0.1 million in the nine monlhs 
ended September 30, 2012. Our capital expenditures in the nine months ended September 30,2013 included $0.2 million for an upgrade lo IDT 
Energy's computer software for electricity scheduling, for which we have committed lo incur an additional S0.5 million to complete the 
upgrade project. Costs for research and development activities are charged to expense when incurred. We currently anticipate that our total 
capital expenditures for the twelve months ending September 30, 2014 will be approximately $0.7 million. 

In the nine monlhs ended September 30,2013 and 2012, cash used for capital contributions to AMSO, LLC was S2.3 million and S2,9 
million, respectively. 
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In the nine months ended September 30,2013 and 2012, we entered inlo loans primarily with employees for an aggregate of $0.4 million 
and $0,7 million, respectively. 

In the nine monlhs ended September 30,2013 and 2012, we used cash of $5.3 million and $2.2 million, respectively, to purchase 
certificates of deposit, and $3,000 and $11.5 million, respectively, to purchase marketable securities .In the nine months ended September 30, 
2013 and 2012, proceeds from maturities of certificates of deposit were $2.2 million and nil, respectively, and proceeds from maturities and 
sale of marketable securities were SlO.O million and nil, respectively. 

Financing Activities 

Restiicted cash and cash equivalents increased nil and $10.0 million in the nine monlhs ended September 30, 2013 and 2012, 
respectively. The increase in the nine months ended September 30,2012 was due to $10.0 million that was deposited in a money market 
accouni at JPMorgan Chase Bank as collateral for a line of credit (see below). 

In the nine months ended September 30, 2013, we paid an aggregate Base Dividend of $0.4505 per share on our Series 2012-A Preferred 
Slock for the fourth quarter of 2012, and the first and second quarters of 2013. The aggregate amount paid was $0.8 million. In October 2013, 
our Board of Directors declared a quarterly Base Dividendof $0.1594 per share on our Series 2012-A Preferred Slock for the third quarter of 
2013. The dividend will be paid on or about November 15,2013 lo stockholders of record as ofthe close of business on November 4, 2013. In 
addition, we have suspended payment of dividends on our Class A and Class B common stock for the foreseeable future. The Base Dividend on 
the 1.9 million shares of our Series 2012-A Preferred Stock is expected to be an aggregate of $1.2 million annually. In the nine months ended 
September 30, 2012, we paid a cash dividend of $0.183 per share to stockholders of our Class A common slock and Class B common stock. 
The aggregate dividends paid in the nine months ended September 30,2012 were $4,2 million. 

We received proceeds from the exercise of our slock options of $53,000 and S5,000 in the nine monlhs ended September 30, 2013 and 
2012, respectively. 

In the nine monthf- ended September 30,2013, we paid $0.3 million to repurchase 31,776 shares of our Class B common stock, and in the 
nine months ended September 30, 2012, we paid SO.1 miUion to repurchase 16,593 shares of our Class B common stock. These shares were 
tendered by employees of ours to satisfy the employees' lax withholding obligations in connection with the lapsing of restrictions on awards of 
restricted stock. Such shares are repurchased by us based on their fair markel value on the trading day immediately prior to the vesting date. 

On March 11, 2013, our Board of Direclors approved a stock repurchase program for the repurchase of up to an aggregate of 7 million 
shares of our Class B common stock. At September 30,2013, no repurchases have been made and 7 million shares remained available for 
repurchase under the stock repurchase program. 

As of April 23,2012, we and IDT Energy entered inlo a Loan Agreement with JPMorgan Chase Bank for a revolving line of credit for up 
lo a maximum principal amount of $25.0 million. On April 30,2013, the Loan Agreement was modified to extend the maturity dale from April 
30, 2013 to April 30, 2014. The proceeds from the line of credit may be used lo provide working capital and fbr the issuance of letters of credit. 
We agreed to deposit cash in a money markel account at JPMorgan Chase Bank as collateral for the line of credit equal to the greater of (a) 
$10.0 million or (b) the sum ofthe amount of letters of credit outstanding plus the outstanding principal underthe revolving note. We are not 
permitted to withdraw funds or exercise any authority over the required balance in the collateral account. The principal outstanding will bear 
interest at the lesser of (&) the LIBOR rate multiplied by the statutory reserve rate established by the Board of Governors of the Federal Reserve 
System plus 1.0% per annum, or (b) the maximum rate per annum permitted by whichever of applicable federal or Texas laws permit the 
higher interest rate. Interest is payable at least every six monlhs and all outstanding principal and any accrued and unpaid interest is due on the 
maturity date. We pay a quarterly unused commitment fee of 0.08% per annum on the difference between S25.0 million and the average daily 
outstandingprincipalbalanceof the note. In addition, asof April 23,2012, GEIC issued a Corporate Guaranty to JPMorgan Chase Bank 
whereby GEIC unconditionally guarantees the full payment of all indebtedness of ours and IDT Energy under the Loan Agreement. Al 
September 30,2013, there were no amounts borrowed under the line of credit, $2.0 million was utilized for letters of credit and cash collateral 
of $10.0 milhon was included in "Restricted cash" in the consolidated balance sheet. 

Changes in Trade Accounts Receivable and Inventory 

Gross trade accounts receivable decreased to S39.3 milhon at September 30, 2013 from $41.1 milhon al December 31,2012 reflecting 
mainly the seasonal decline in revenue, particularly for nalural gas, when comparing September 2013 to December 2012. 

Inventory of natural gas increased to $3.5 million at September 30,2013 from S2.6 million at December 31,2012 primarily due lo a 
23.2% increase in the average unit cost and a 6.7% increase in quantity as a resuh of purchases of nalural gas in preparation for the winter 
healing season. 

28 



$ 

$_ 

Total 
1.9 

29.2 

1,3 
0.4 

32.8 

S 

r 

Less than 
1 year 

1.9 
29.2 

13 
0.2 

32.6 

1-
$ 

$ 

- 3 years 

0.2 
0.2 

4 -
$ 

$ 

- 5 years 

— 

After 
5 years 

$ 

$ 

Contractual Obligations and Other Commercial Commitments 

The following tables quantify our future contractual obligations and commercial commitments as of September 30, 2013: 

Contractual Obligations 

Payments Due by Period 

(in millions) 
Commitment to invest in AMSO, LLC (I) 
IDT Energy's derivative contiacts 
Purchase and olher 
obligations 
Operating leases 
TOTAL CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS (2)(3) 

(1) The timing of AMSO's payments to AMSO, LLC is based on the current budget and olher projections and is subject to change. 

(2) The above table does not include our unrecognized income lax benefits for uncertain tax positions at September 30,2013 of S0.5 million 
due to the uncertainty of the amount and/or liming of any such paymenls. Uncertain lax positions taken or expected to be taken on an 
income tax return may resull in additional payments lo lax authorities. We are not currently able lo reasonably estimale the liming of any 
potential future payments. If a tax authority agrees with the tax position taken or expected lo be taken or the applicable statute of 
limhations expires, then additional payments will not be necessary. 

(3) The above table does not include the following. In October 2013, we entered into a contract related lo Afek's exploration drilling program 
pursuant to which ouf purchase commitment is currentiy $0.8 million. 

Other Commercial Commitments 

Payments Due by Period 

Less than After 
(in millions) Total 1 year 1 —3 years 4—5 years 5 years 
Standby letter of credit 
(1) $ 2 ^ $ 2 ^ $ - S - $ -^ 

(1) The above table does not include an aggregate of $3,0 million in performance bonds due lo the uncertainty ofthe amount and/or timing of 
any payments. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

We do not have any "off-balance sheet arrangements," as defined in relevant SEC regulations that are reasonably likely to have a current 
or future effect on our financial condition, results of operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capilal resources, other than the following. 

IDT Energy has perfonnance bonds issued through a third party for the benefit of various states in order to comply with the stales' 
financial requirements for retail energy providers. At September 30, 2013, IDT Energy had aggregate performance bonds of $3.0 milhon 
outstanding. 

In connection with our Spin-Off in October 2011, we and IDT entered inlo various agreements prior lo the Spin-Off including a 
Separation and Dislribulion Agreement to effect the separation and provide a framework for our relationship with IDT after the Spin-Off, and a 
Tax Separation Agreement, which sets forth the responsibilities of us and IDT with respect to, among other things, liabihties for federal, state, 
local and foreign taxes for periods befbre and including the Spin-Off, the preparation and filing of tax retums for such periods and disputes 
with taxing authorities regarding taxes for such periods. Pursuant lo Separation and Distribution Agreement, among other things, we indemnify 
IDT and IDT indemnifies us for losses related to the failure of the other to pay, perfomi or otherwise discharge, any of the liabilities and 
obhgations set forth in the agreement. Pursuant to the Tax Separation Agreement, among other things, IDT indemnifies us from all liability for 
taxes of IDT with respect to any taxable period, and we indemnify IDT from all liability for taxes of ours with respect to any taxable period, 
including, wilhout limitation, the ongoing tax audits related to our business. 
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risks 

Our primary market risk exposure is the price applicable to our nalural gas and electricity purchases and sales. The sales price of our 
natural gas and electricity is primarily driven by the prevailing markel price. Hypolhetically, if our gross profil per unit in the nine monlhs 
ended September 30,2013 had remained the same as in the nine months ended September 30,2012, our gross profil from electricity sales 
would have increased by $15.2 million in the nine months ended September 30, 2013 and our gross profil from nalural gas sales would have 
decreased by $2.6 million in that same period. 

The energy markets have historically been very volatile, and we can reasonably expect that electricity and nalural gas prices will be 
subjecl to fluctuations in the future. In an effort lo reduce the effects ofthe volatility ofthe price of electricity and natural gas on our 
operations, we have adopted a policy of hedging electricity and natural gas prices from time lo time, at relatively lower volumes, primarily 
through the use of forward and future contracts and put and call options. While the use of these hedging arrangements limits the downside risk 
of adverse price movements, il also limits future gains from favorable movements. We do not apply hedge accounting to these contracts and 
options, therefore the mark-lo-market change in fair value is recognized in direct cost of revenue in our consolidated statemenis of operations. 

The summarized volume of IDT Energy's outstanding contracts and options as of September 30,2013 was as follows: 

Commodity Settlement D a t ^ Volume 
Electricity 
Electricity 
Electricity 
Electricity 
Electricity 
Electricity 
Natural gas 
Natural gas 
Natural gas 
Nalural gas 
Nalural gas 
Nalural gas 

December 2013 
January 2014 
February 2014 

July 2014 
August 2014 

September 2014 
November 2013 
December 2013 
January 2014 
February 2014 

March 2014 
July 2014 

88,340 MWh 
44,000 MWh 
40,000 MWh 
52,800 MWh 
50,400 MWh 
16,800 MWh 
150,000 Dth 
775,000 Dth 
375,000 Dth 
1,425,000 Dth 
225,000 Dth 
77,500 Dth 

In addition to, but separate from our primary business, we hold a portion of our assets in marketable securities for strategic and 
speculative purposes. As of September 30,2013, the carrying value of our marketable securities was $0.4 million. Investments in marketable 
securities carry a degree of risk, and depend lo a great extent on correct assessments of the future course of price movements of securities and 
other instmments. There can be no assurance that our inveslment managers will be able to accurately predict these price movements. The 
securities markets have in recenl years been characterized by greal volatility and unpredictability. Accoalingly, the value of our marketable 
securities may go down as well as up and we may not receive the amounts originally invested upon redemption. 

Item 4. Controls and Procedures 

Evaluation ofDLiciosure Conlrols and Procedures. OurChief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer have evaluated the 
effectiveness of our disclosure conlrols and procedures (as defined m Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended), as of the end of tiie period covered by this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q. Based on this evaluation, our Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of September 30,2013. 

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting. There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting during the 
quarter ended September 30,2013 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial 
reporting. 
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PART IL OTHER INFORMATION 

Item 1. Legal Proceedings 

We may from time to time be subjecl to legal proceedings that have arisen in the ordinary course of business. Although there can be no 
assurance in this regard, we do not expect any of those legal proceedings to have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, cash 
flows or financial condition. 

Item IA. Risk Factors 

There are no material changes from the risk factors previously disclosed in Item 1A to Part I of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2012. 

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds 

The following table provides information with respect to purchases by us of our shares during the third quarter of 2013; 

July 1-31,2013 
August 1-31,2013 (2) 
September 1-30,2013 
Total 

Total 
Number of 

Shares 
Purchased 

— 
14364 

_ 
14364 

Average 
Price 

per Share 
S 
S 10.07 
S -
S 10.07 

Total Number 
of Shares 

Purchased as 
part of 

Publicly 
Announced 

Plans or 
Programs 

— 
— 
— 
-

Maximum 
Number of 
Shares that 
May Yet Be 
Purchased 
Under the 
Plans or 

Programs (1) 
7,000,000 
7,000,000 
7,000,000 

(1) Under our existing stock repurchase program, approved by our Board of Directors on March ! 1,2013, we are authorized to repurchase 
up to an aggregate of 7 million shares of our Class B common stock. Under our previous stock repurchase program, which was approved 
by our Board of Directors on December 8, 2011, we were authorized to repurchase up to an aggregate of 20 million shares of our Class B 
common stock. 

(2) Consists of 14,364 shares of Class B common slock that were tendered by employees of ours to satisfy the employees' tax withholding 
obligations in connection with the lapsing of restrictions on awards of restricted stock. Such shares are repurchased by us based on their 
fair markel value on the trading day immediately prior to the vesting dale. 

Item 3. Defaults upon Senior Securities 

None 

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures 

Not applicable 

Item 5. Other Information 

None 
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Item 6. Exhibits 

Exhibit 
Number Description 

31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 17 CFR 240.13a-14(a),as adopted pursuant to §302 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002. 

31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 17 CFR 240,13a-14(a), as adopted pursuant to §302 of tiie Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002. 

32.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant lo 18 U.S.C, Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of tiie Sarbanes-Oxley 
Act of 2002. 

32.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley 

Act of 2002. 

101.INS* XBRL Instance Document 

101 .SCH* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 

101 .CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. 

101 .LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document. 

101 .PRE* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document. 

101 -DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. 

* Filed or furnished herewith. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf 
by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized. 

Genie Energy Ltd. 

November 12, 2013 By: Is! Claude Pupkin 
Claude Pupkin 
Chief Executive Officer 

November 12,2013 By: /s/ Avi Goldin 
Avi Goldin 
Chief Financial Officer 
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EXHIBIT 31.1 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

I, Claude Pupkin, certify that: 

1.1 have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Genie Energy Ltd.; 

2- Based on my knowledge, this report does nol contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit lo slate a material fact necessary 
lo make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registiant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal contiol over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(0 and 15d-I5(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known lo us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, lo provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliabilhy of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's intemal contiol over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or 
is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registiant's intemal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of interna! control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors (or persons perfonning the equivalent 
functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and malerial weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 
are reasonably likely lo adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and reporl financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
intemal contiol over financial reporting. 

Date: November 12,2013 

As/ Claude Pupkin 
Claude Pupkin 
Chief Executive Officer 



EXHIBIT 31.2 

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER 

PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) 
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002 

1, Avi Goldin, certify that: 

1.1 have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Genie Energy Ltd.; 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untiue statement of a malerial factor omit to state a material fact necessary 
to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this Report, fairly present in all malerial 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules i3a-l5(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal contiol over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-
15(f) and I5d-I5(f)) for the registrant and have: 

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure thai material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared; 

(b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such intemal control over financial reporting lo be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statemenis for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles; 

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contiols and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and 

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's intemal control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or 
is reasonably Hkely to materially affect, the registrant's intemal control over financial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee ofthe registiant's board of direclors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions): 

(a) All significant deficiencies and malerial weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 
are reasonably likely lo adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and 

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's 
internal control over financial reporting, 

Date: November 12, 2013 

/s/ Avi Goldin 
Avi Goldin 
Chief Financial Officer 



EXHIBIT 32.1 

Certification Pursuant to 
18 U.S.C. Section 1350 

(as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002) 

In connection with the Quarteriy Report of Genie Energy Ltd. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,2013 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (die "Report"), I, Claude Pupkin, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, 
pursuant to 18 U.S,C- § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) ofthe Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all malerial respects, the financial condition and results of operations 

ofthe Company. 

Date: November 12,2013 

/s/ Claude Pupkin 
Claude Pupkin 
Chief Executive Officer 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or other document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise 
adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electionic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been 
provided to Genie Energy Ltd. and will be retained by Genie Energy Ltd. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff 
upon request. 



EXHIBIT 32.2 

Certification Pursuant to 
18 U.S.C. Section 1350 

(as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act Of 2002) 

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Genie Energy Ltd. (the "Company") on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30,2013 
as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the "Report"), I, Avi Goldin, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant 
to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, tiiat lo my knowledge; 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 
2. The informalion contained in the Report fairly presents, in all malerial respects, the financial condition and resuhs of operations 

ofthe Company. 

Dale: November 12,2013 

/s/ Avi Goldin 
Avi Goldin 
Chief Financial Officer 

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906, or olher document authenticating, acknowledging, or otherwise 
adopting the signature that appears in typed form within the electronic version of this written statement required by Section 906, has been 
provided to Genie Energy Ltd. and will be retained by Genie Energy Lid, and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff 
upon request. 




